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UNITED STATES MARINE CORPS 
LEGAL SERVICES SUPPORT SECTION 
1st FORCE SERVICE SUPPORT GROUP 

CAMP RIDGWAY, IRAQ 

P.EFER 

5800 
LSSS/D 
14 May 04 

From: Private First Class Jeremiah J. Trefny, 
To: 	Convening Authority 

Subj: REQUEST FOR VOLUNTARY APPELLATE LEAVE 

Ref: (a) MCO P1050.3G 
(b) MCO P1900.16D 
(c) SECNAVINST 1050.1A 
(d) SECNAVINST 5815.3G 

USMC 

1. Pursuant to the provisions of references (a) through (d), I 
hereby request that I be granted voluntary appellate leave 
without pay pending completion of appellate review of my Special 
Court-Martial, at which I was sentenced to a dishonorable 
discharge. I understand that: 

a. While on such leave, I am continuously subject to 
crders of competent military authority. 

b. While on such leave, I must keep my commanding officer 
advised of my current address. MY leave address will be: 

c. sucn leave may be terminated at any time by written 
notice to me, delivered to the address provided above. In the 
event a punitive discharge is not approved, I,. may be ordered to 
return to this or another command for a rehearing or other 
disposition of my case. 

d. I understand that I am not entitled to a mileage 
allowance or transportation in kind at the time of departure. 
Accordingly, I must bear my own transportation expenses without 
recourse to the government. I understand that I remain eligible 
for reimbursement at the time my discharge is effected. 

'Mb 
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Subj: REQUEST FOR VOLUNTARY APPELLATE LEAVE 

e. I understand that if I have accrued leave to my credit, 
I will be charged with annual leave until my accrued leave is 
exhausted and that leave beyond that which I have accrued will 
be charged as excess leave. 

f. If the adjudged sentence in my case is approved and 
ordered executed, I will be discharged with a dishonorable 
discharge. 

g. My leave will be terminated should: 

(1) I be determined to be alcohol and/or drug 
dependent and I request thirty days inpatient treatment at a 
Veterans Administration Hospital for my dependency. 

(2) A hearing, including a rehearing on the sentence 
only, of my Special Court-Martial be directed. 

(3) My punitive discharge be approved. 

(4) My sentence be set aside, suspended, terminated 
or disapproved during the review process, provided my EAS or 
other obligated service has not passed. In such an event, I 
hereby consent tb be discharged for the convenience of the 
government, with the character of discharge warranted hy my• 
service record, under the provisions of reference (b), if this 
course of action is more azpronriate that terminating my leave 
status. 

t-opm-■ 

JEREMIAH J. TREFNY 
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APPELLATE RIGHTS STATEMENT 

From: Private First Class Jeremiah J. Trefny, 00) 	 USMC 

To: 	The Judge Advocate General of the Navy 

Subj: APPELLATE RIGHTS STATEMENT 

I was convicted and sentenced by a SPECIAL court-martial on 14 May 2004 at 
Fallujah, Iraq. Pursuant to Article 70, Uniform Code of Military Justice, and 
R.C.M. 502(d)(6), R.C.M. 1105, and R.C.M. 1110, M.C.M., 2002, my defense 
counsel, Captain ao) 	USMC, has advised me of my appellate rights 
and the review process or tne record of my court-martial as follows: 

a. The convening authority will take action on the sentence and may, in 
his discretion, take action on the findings. The action to be taken on the 
'Indings and sentencing is within the sole discretion of the convening 
authority. The determination of the action to take on findings and sentence 
's a matter of command prerogative. The convening authority is not required 
to review the case for legal errors or factual sufficiency. In taking action 
on the sentence, the convening authority may approve, disapprove, commute, or 
suspend the sentence in whole or in part. The convening authority is not 
empowered to reverse a finding of not guilty; however, the convening authority 
may change a finding of guilty to a charge or specification to.a finding of 
guilty to a lesser offense included within that charge or specification, may 
disapprove a finding of guilty and order a rehearing, or may set aside and 
dismiss any charge or specification. Under no circumstances may the convening 
authority increase the severity of the sentence as adjudged. I have been 
advised by my defense counsel that it is counsel's responsibility to represent 
me during the convening authority's action stage of my court-martial 
conviction. In this regard, my defense counsel has advised me of my right to 
request deferment of any sentence to confinement, and of counsel's obligation 
to advise and assist me in preparing matters for submission to the convening 
authority for consideration prior to his taking action. I understand that I 
have 10 days after a copy of the authenticated record of trial is served in 
accordance with R.C.M. 1104(b) or the recommendation of the staff judge 
advocate or legal officer is served in accordance with R.C.M. 1105(c), 
whichever is later, to submit matters to the convening authority. The 
convening authority may, for good cause, extend the 10-day period for not more 
Than 20 additional days. It is also understood that the failure to submit 
matters within the times prescribed waives the right to submit matters. I may 
also expressly waive, in writing, my rights to submit matters, and such waiver 
may not be revoked. My defense counsel has also advised me of his 
responsibility to examine the record of trial and to note any errors and to 
examine the post-trial recommendation by the staff judge advocate or legal 
officer for error or omissions, and to reply within ten days from the date of 
service of the record of trial under R.C.M. 1104(b) ok service of the 
recommendation under R.C.M. 1105(c), whichever is later. The convening 
authority may, for good cause, extend this time period for up to 20 additional 
days. 

b. If, after action by the convening authority, my sentence includes 
dismissal or a punitive discharge, as applicable, or confinement at hard labor 
for one year or more, I understand the record of trial will be forwarded to 
the Judge Advocate General for referral to the U.S. Navy-Marine Corps Court of 
criminal Aopeals (NMCCA) in Washington, D.C., for review. I understand that 
NMCCA is limited to reviewing the findings and sentence as approved by the 
convening authority and may not reverse a finding of not guilty, approve 
'inchngs of guilty creviously disapproved, or approve a sentence more severe 
than that previous'y approved. In this regard, I understand that no findings 
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Subj: APPELLATE RIGHTS STATEMENT 

cf guilty approved on review below may be affirmed by NMCCA unless that court 
is satisfied that each element of the offense or offenses of which I was 
convicted is established beyond reasonable doubt by legal and competent 
evidence of record. I further understand that if NMCCA approves a finding of 
guilty with regard to one or more offenses, the court is then required to 
determine the appropriateness of the sentence as approved on review below, and 
the court may not affirm a sentence as approved on review below unless it 
finds that the sentence is a legal, adequate, and appropriate punishment in 
view of all the circumstances. 

c. If NMCCA affirms the findings and sentence, in whole or in part, I 
understand that I have the right to seek further review of my court-martial 
conviction before the Court of Appeals for the Armed Forces (CAAF). In this 
regard, I understand that CAAF is composed of five civilian judges and is 
located in Washington, D.C. Insofar as further review before CAAF is 
concerned, I understand that, whereas the review process described in the 
preceding paragraph is automatic, I must request review before CAAF by filing 
a petition for grant of review within 60 days from the earlier of the date of 
being notified of the NMCCA decision or the date on which my copy of the NMCCA 
decision, after having been served on my appellate counsel of record, if any, 
is deposited in the United States mail for delivery by first-class certified 
mail to the address I have provided; or, if I fail to provide such an address, 
tc the latest address listed bv me in my service record. Furthermore, I 
understand that a petition for grant cf review before CAAF does not have to be 
granted by that court. I understand that such a petition is granted only on 
good cause shown and the CAAF determines whether good cause is shown. I 
understand that if CAAF should grant my petition for review, its review of my 
case is limited solely to questions of law, and that its review will also be 
limited to those queg'zions of law for which review was granted. I understand 
that CAAF generally must accept the facts as found at trial or during the 
prior review of my case and that it nas no power to amend the sentence as 
affirmed by NMCCA except in very limited circumstances. 

d. If CAAF reviews my case, cr otherwise grants relief, I understand that 
I may further petition the U.S. Supreme Court for review of the CAAF decision 
by writ of certiorari. I understand that the grant or denial of a writ of 
certiorari is within the sole discretion of the U.S. Supreme Court and that 
the application for a writ of certiorari must be filed in accordance with, and 
within the time limits prescribed by, the rules of the U.S. Supreme Court. 

e. My defense counsel has further advised me that I may waive the 
appellate review as just explained to me or : may withdraw the appeal of my 
case from such review. If : do waive the review or withdraw my appeal, then 
my case will be reviewed by a judge advocate. This judge advocate review must 
be in writing and set forth conclusions as to whether:'- (1) the court has 
jurisdiction over me and the offense(s); (2) the charge(s) and 
specification(s) stated an offense; and, (3) the sentence was within the 
limits prescribed as a matter of law. The judge advocate must also respond in 
writing to each allegation of error made by me cr my defense counsel. If the 
judge advocate determines that corrective action is required or if the 
sentence includes dismissal, a punitive discharge, or confinement for more 
than six months, the record of trial and the judge advocate's reView and 
recommendation will be sent to the officer exercising typect court-martial 
jurisdiotion for action. The officer exercising SPECIAL court-martial 
jurisdiction may disapprove or approve the finding(s) or sentence, in whole cr 
in part; may remit, commute, or suspend the sentence, in whole or in part; may 
order a rehearing on the findings or the sentence, or on both; or may dismiss 
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Subj: APPELLATE RIGHTS STATEMENT 

the charge(s). 

f. I further understand that the portion of my sentence providing for a 
punitive discharge or dismissal may not be ordered executed until the court-
martial conviction is final and the sentence, as finally approved, including 
the punitive discharge or dismissal. A court-martial conviction is final when 
the review is completed by MMCCA and: 

(1) I fail to file a petition for grant of review before CAAF within 
6C days after notification, or the dateof certified mailing, as appropriate, 
or the NMCCA decision in my case;• 

(2) My petition for grant of review is denied or otherwise rejected 
CAAF; 

(3) My case is not otherwise under review by CAAF; or 

(4) Review is completed in accordance with the judgment of CAAF and: 

(a) A petition for a writ of certiorari is not filed within the 
time limits prescribed by,the U.S. Supreme Court; 

(b) A petition for a writ of certiorari is denied or otherwise 
rejected by the U.S. Supreme Court; or, 

(c) Review is otherwise completed in accordance with the judgment 
of the U.S. Supreme Eourt. 

Additionally, ff I have waived review of my case by NMCCA or withdrawn my 
appeal from that court, my court-martial conviction is final when review by a 
judge advocate is completed and action is taken by the officer exercising 
typect court-martial jurisdiction approving the findings and sentence. If my 
sentence includes a dismissal, approval by the Secretary of the Navy or such 
Under or Assistant Secretary as is designated is further required. If my 
sentence, as finally approved, includes a punitive discharge or dismissal, it 
is understood that I will be discharged or dismissed in accordance with the 
approved punishment. 

2. In view of the foregoing, and should my court-martial be referred to gMCCA 
under Article 66 or Article 69, Uniform Code of Military Justice, I have been 
informed that I am entitled to representation before gMCCA, CAAF, and the U S. 
Supreme Court by appellate defense counsel who is a lawyer qualified in 
accordance with Article 277(b), Uniform Code of Military Justice, designated by 
the Judge Advocate General of the Navy, and Provided at no expense to me. 
Although I am entitled to such representation, I understand that I must 
request such representation. I also understand that, in addition to or in 
lieu of my designated appellate defense counsel, I may retain a civilian 
counsel to represent me before NMCCA, CAAF, and the U.S. Supreme Court, but 
that the services of a civilian counsel would be at my own expense and at no 
expense to the Government. Having fully discussed the foregoingwith my 
defense counsel, I do desire to be represented by appellate defense counsel. 

3. By my signature below, I hereby request the Judge Advocate General of the 
Navy to designate an appellate defense counsel to represent me. / understand 
that I may waive representation by appellate defense counsel, and that I may 
also waive or withdraw from appellate review. If I desire to exercise any of 
these rights, I will so indicate by separate correspondence to my appellate 
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Sub::: APPELLATE RIGHTS STATEMENT 

defense counsel. 

4. In addition to, and separate from, my right to review by NMCCA, I have the 
right to sentence review by the Naval Clemency and Parole Board (NCPB). The 
NCPB will accept the findings of my court-martial and will not review my case 
for legal errors.. After reviewing my case, however, the NCPB may grant 
clemency by reducing a part of my sentence. I understand that I may waive 
review by the NCPB. The decision whether to waive such review is an important 
one and I understand that I have the right to consult with counsel before 
making that decision. 

For administrative purposes, the following information is provided: 
a. A civilian counsel was not retained to represent the accused at trial. 
b. The services of an individual military counsel were not utilized. 
c. Detailed defense counsel's address and telephone number are: 

United States Marines Corps 
Joint Law Center 
P.O. BOX 452022 
San Diegc, CA 92145-2022 . 	 Phone Number (858) 577-1838 

0005) d. Principal defense counsel was: Captain 	 USMC 
e. I understand that in order for my defense counsel or any successor 

counsel properly to represent me, I must keep counsel informed of my current 
mailing address. In this regard, I may be contacted at: 

0005) 

f. By my signature, I agree to forward any change of address or phone 
number to: 

Director, Appellate Defense Division (Code 45) 
Navy-Marine Corps Appellate Review Activity 
Office of the Judge Advocate General 
Washington Navy Yard 
Washington, DC 20374-1111 

) kAL 01 / 1 rx4.,/ 
JEREMIAH J. TREFNY 	 DATE 

/1-110 CV 

 

 

(b)(6) 

     

hw. 

      

(06) 
CAPTAIN 

U.S. Marine Corps 
Defense Counsel 
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SPECIAL POWER OF ATTORNEY 

KNOW ALL PERSONS BY THESE PRESENTS: 

That I, JEREMIAE J. TREFNY, having been convicted by a SPECIAL court-martial 
on 14 MAY 2004, do hereby make, constitute and appoint my appellate defense 
counsel of record appointed under the provisions of Article 70, Uniform Code 
of Military Justice, U.S.C. section 870, and R.C.M. 1202, MCM, 2002, for the 
defense of my case, my true and lawful attorney or attorneys for me in my 
name, place, and stead, and for my use and benefit, and as my act and deed, to 
accept service of the U.S. Navy-Marine Court of Criminal Appeals (NMCCA) 
decision in my case and thereby start the running of the 60-daY appeal period 
within which I may petition the U.S. Court of Appeals for the Armed Forces 
(CAAF) for a grant of review and, in the event any part of my conviction is 
affirmed by the NMCCA, to execute, file, and prosecute a petition for grant of 
review in the CAAF under the provision of Article 67, UCMJ, 10 U.S.C. section 
867, or when in his judgment he deems further review of my conviction is 
unwarranted due to lack of meritorious grounds to be urged upon appeal, to 
waive my right to petition the CAAF. I fully understand my statutory right 
under Article 67(c), UCMJ, 10 U.S.C. section 867(c), to have actual personal 
service of the decision of the NMCCA on myself and I hereby voluntarily, 
knowingly, and consciously waive that right. 

GIVING AND GRANTING to my attorney full power and authority to do and perform 
every act and thing requisite and necessary to be done in the premises, as 
fully to all intents,and purposes as I might or could do if personally present 
at the doing thereof, with full power in my of substitution and revocation, 
hereby ratifying and confirming all that my said attorney or substitute may or 
shall lawfully do or cause to be done by virtue hereof. 

LAin 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand and seal this 	 , day 
of 	(\-Na..1 	, 2004. 

75-e(c,,1 
JEREMIAH J. TREFNY 
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Signed, sealed, and delivered in the presence of: 

(b)(6) 

WitneS5 

witness/ 

With the United States Armed Forces at FALLUJAH, IRAQ 

I, CATAIN 00) 	 the undersigned officer, do hereby certify that on 
this 1L\F-i.--, 	day of 	 , 2004, before me, personally appeared 
JEREMIAH J. TREFNY, whose home address is: 

and who is known to me to be a member of the United States Axmed Forces on 
active duty and to be the identical person who is described in, whose name is 
subscribed to, and who signed and executed the contents thereof, he personally 
acknowledged to me that he signed and sealed the same, on the dateit bears, as 
his true, free, and itcluntary act and deed, for uses, purposes, and 
considerations therein set forth. And I do further certify that I am at the 
dateof this certificate a commissioned officer of he grade, branch of service, 
and organization stated below in the active service of the United States Armed 
Forces, that by statute no seal is required on this certificate, and the same 
is executed in my capacity as a judge advocate under authority granted to me 
by Article 136, UCMJ, 10 U.S.C. section 936. 

(b)(6) 

CAPTAIN, USMC 

\\\  1\"-\L,‘ 

DATE 

D OD JUNE 
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Signed, sealed, and delivered in the presence of: 

(b)(6) 

Witness 

Witness/ 

With the United States Armed Forces at FALLUJAH, IRAQ 

I, CATAIN 005) 	 the undersigned officer, do hereby certify that on 
this )tAk-i—.. 	day of 	 , 2004, before me, personally appeared 
JEREMIAH J. TREFNY, whose hom address is: 

and who is known to me to be a member of the United States Armed Forces on 
active duty and to be the identical person who is described in, whose name is 
subscribed to, and who signed and executed the contents thereof, he personally 
acknowledged to me that he signed and sealed the same, on the dateit bears, as 
his true, free, and ftluntary act and deed, for uses, purposes, and 
considerations therein set forth. And I do further certify that I am at the 
dateof this certificate a commissioned officer of he grade, branch of service, 
and organization stated below in the active service of the United States Armed 
Forces, that by statute no seal is required on this certificate, and the same 
is executed in my capacity as a judge advocate under authority granted to me 
by Article 136, UCMJ, 10 U.S.C. section 93E. 

CAPTAIN, USMC 

,t\ 	N. —N. usi 	(.2;1._k) 

DATE 	
" 	 

•■■ 
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Trefny, Jeremiah J. 

RECORD OF TRIAL 

of 

(WM 	 Private First Class 

2d Battalion, 2d Marines 	USMC 	 Al Fallujah, Iraq 

By 

Special Court-Martial 

Convened by Commanding Officer 

2d Battalion, 2d Marine Regiment 
1st Marine Division (REIN) 

Tried at 

Forward Operating Base Fallujan, Al Fallujah, Iraq, on 14 May 2004 

INDEX 

Article 39(a) 	Sessions: 
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COPIES OF RECORD 

copy of record furnished the accused or defense counsel as 
per attached certificate or receipt. 

copy (ies) of record forwarded herewith. 

RECEIPT FOR COPY OF RECORD 

I hereby acknowledge receipt of a copy of the record of trial of 
United States v. 	 , delivered to me 
at 	 This day of 
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PROCEEDINGS OF A SPECIAL COURT-MARTIAL 

The military judge called the Article 39(a) session to order 
at Forward Operating Base Fallujah, Al Fallujah, Iraq, at 1340, 
14 May 2004, pursuant to the following order: 

1 
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UN/TED STATES MARINE =CPS 
TASK FORCE 2/2 
CAMP ZADAN, IRAQ 

UNIT 73090 
FPO AE 09509-3090 

IN REPLY REFER TO 

5800 
Legal 
CMCO Ser#1-04 
12 May 2004 

SPECIAL COURT MARTIAL CONVENING ORDER 1-04  

Persuant to authority contained in Judge Advocate General of the Navy 
Instruction 5800.7C of 9 October 1990, a special court martial is convened and 
may proceed at Camp Fallujah, Iraq or at any such authorized place as directed 
with the following members: 

Capt (b)(6) 
Capt 
Capt 
istLt 
lstLt 

(b)(6) 

Lieutenant Colonel 
0.S. Marine Corns 
Commanding 

(b)(6) 
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TC: 

This court will come to order in the case of The United  
States versus Private First Class Jeremiah J. Trefny,  
United States Marine Corps. 

Sir, this court is convened by the Commanding Officer of 
Second Battalion, Second Marine Regiment, First Marine 
Division, by Special Court-Martial Convening Order 1-04, 
dated 12 May 2004, copies of which have been furnished 
to the military judge, defense counsel, accused, and 
court reporter for insertion in the record of trial. 
There are no modifications or corrections to the 
convening order. 

The general nature of the charges in this case are as 
follows: 

Charge I, violation of UCMJ Article 81, conspiracy to 
assault an Iraqi detainee; 

Charge II, violation of UCMJ Article 90, willful 
disobedience of a superior commissioned officer's order; 

Charge III, violation of UCMJ Article 92, dereliction in 
the performance of duties; 

Charge IV, violation of UCMJ Article 93, cruelty and 
maltreatment toward an Iraqi detainee; 

Charge V, violation of UCMJ Article 107, false official 
statement; 

And Charge VI, violation of UCMJ Article 128, aggravated • 
assault; 

The charges were preferred by Corporal 01)05) 
United States Marine Corps, a person subject to the 
Uniform Code of Military Justice, and sworn to before an 
officer authorized to administer oaths. 

The charges have been properly referrpH tn thiq 
court-martial by Lieutenant Coloneloo) 
Commanding Officer of Second Battalion, econd marine 
Regiment, the Convening Authority, and have not been 
referred to any court other than that reflected on the 
referral block of the charge sheet. 

The charges were served on the accused today, 
14 May 2004. The three-day statutory waiting period has 

2 
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not expired. 

The accused and the following persons detailed to this 
court-martial are present: 

Colonel (b)(6) 
Military Judae; 

Captain (bM 
Defense Counsel; 

Captain (b)(6) 
Trial Counsel; 

United States Marine Corps, as 

United States Marine Corps, as 

United States Marine Corps, as 

And First Lieutenant MM 	 United States Marine 
Corps, as Assistant Trial Counsel. 

The members are absent. 

Sergeant (bM 	 United States Marine Corps, has 
been detailed as court' reporter for this court-martial 
and has been previously sworn. 

I have been detailed to this court-martial by the 
Officer In Charge of LSST-Iraq. I am qualified, 
certified, and sworn in accordance with Articles 27(b) 
and 42(a). And I have not acted in any disqualifying 
manner. 

MJ: 	Thank you. 

And Li eutenant (b)(6) 	your legal qualifications and 
status as to oath as well as by whom you were detailed 
are the same as the trial counsel? 

ATC: 	Yes, sir. They are. 

MJ: 	Have you acted in any manner which may tend to disqualify 
you? 

ATC: 	No, sir. 	I have not. 

MJ: 	Thank you. Please be seated. 

ATC: 	Thank you, sir. 

MJ: 	And captain MX6) 	are your legal qualifications and 
status as to oath the same as trial counsel's? 
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DC: 	Yes, sir. 

MJ: 	And have you acted in any manner which may tend to 
disqualify you? 

No, sir. 

And are you the only defense counsel in this case? 

Yes, sir. 

MJ: 

(176 AGe: 

MJ: 	And were you detailed to this case by the senior defense 
counsel for Legal Service Support Team - Iraq. 

DC: 	Yes, sir. 

MJ: 	Thank you. 

And are you 	fact Private First Class Jeremiah J. 
Trefny, the accused in this case? 

ACC: 	Yes, I am, sir. 

All rigrft. PFC Trefny, just go ahead and please keep your 
seat unless I tell you otherwise. All right? 

C: 	Yes, sir. 

MJ: 
	

PFC Trefny, you have a riclht to be represented at this 
court-martial by Captainmm) 	your detailed defense 
counsel, or you may be represented by military counsel 
of your own selection if the counsel you request is 
available. 

Military counsel are provided to you free of charge. If 
you are represented by military counsel of your own 
selection, you would normally lose the services of 
Captain om 	However, you could request that he 
remain on your case. And the authority that detailed 
him, in his sole discretion, could either grant or deny 
your request. 

Do you understand this? 

ACC: 	Yes, sir. 

MJ: 	In addition to military counsel, you have a right to be 
represented by civilian counsel at no expense to the 

4 
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United States. Civilian counsel may represent you alone 
or along with your military counsel. 

Do you understand this? 

ACC: 	Yes, sir. 

MJ: 	Do you have any questions about your right to counsel? 

ACC: 	No, I do not, sir. 

MJ: 	And by whom do you want to be represented? 

ACC: 	By Captain (b)(6) 	sir. 

MJ: 	Do you want any other defense counsel? 

ACC: 	No, sir. 

MJ: 
	

Very well. I have detailed myself to this court martial 
in my capacity as the Circuit Military Judge for the 
Sierra Judicial Circuit. I am certified in accordance 
with Articles 26(b) and (c) and sworn in accordance with 
Article -42(a), all of the Uniform Code of Military 
Justice. 

I will not be a wir_ness for either side in this case. I 
was, however, the presiding judge in the case of The 
United States versus Sting, which I believe is a related 
case. 

With that in mind, does either side desire to conduct 
voir dire or challenge? 

TC: 
	No, sir. 

DC: 
	No, sir. 

MJ: 
	PFC Trefny, you have an absolute right to a three-day 

waiting period before you can be called into court to 
answer on a set of charges. 

Do you understand this? 

ACC: 
	Yes, sir. 

Mj: 
	What that means is that since you were not served until 

today, the earliest you could be required to come to 
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court to answer to theSe charges would be the 17th of 
May. 

Do you understand that? 

ACC: 	Yes, sir. 

MJ: 	Do you desire to avail yourself of that waiting period? 

ACC: 	No, sir. 

MJ: 	Have you had enough time to prepare with your defense 
counsel? 

ACC: 	Yes, I have, sir. 

MJ: 	And do you believe you are ready to proceed to trial 
today? 

ACC: 	Yes, I do, sir. 

MJ: 	CaptainO*6) 	have you had enough time to prepare with 
your client? 

DC: 	Yes, sir. 

MJ: 	And you are prepared to proceed to trial today? 

DC: 	Yes, sir. 

MS: 	Very well. 

PFC Trefny, you have a right to be tried by a 
court-martial composed of members including, if you 
request it, at least one third enlisted members. And if 
you are found guilty of any offense, those same members 
would decide a sentence. 

Do you understand this? 

ACC: 	Yes, sir. 

MJ: 
	 In addition, .you have a right to request to be tried 

before military judge alone. And if I approve that 
request, then I alone will decide if you are guilty. 
And if I were to find you guilty of an offense, I alone 
would decide a sentence. 
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Do you understand thi . 

ACC: 	Yes, sir. 

MJ: 	Have you discussed these choices with your defense 
counsel? 

ACC: 	 I have, sir. 

MJ: 	Understanding the types of courts-martial, do you want to 
be tried by a court-martial composed of members or by 
military judge alone? 

ACC: 	Military judge alone, sir. 

MJ: 	Is that a free and voluntary decision on your part? 

ACC: 	Yes, it is, sir. 

MJ: 	Has anyone tried to force you or coerce you to get you to 
request trial before military judge alone? 

ACC: 	No. They have not, sir. 

MJ: 	Is it also being made as a part of your pretrial 
aareement? 

ACC: 	Yes, it is, sir. 

MJ: 	Very well. Your request is approved. 

The court-martial is assembled. 

The accused will now be arraigned. 

Does the defense desire that the charges and 
specifications be read? 

DC: 	No, sir. Defense waives the reading. 

MJ: 	The reading will be omitted. 

[The charge sheet follows and is not a numbered page.] 

[END OF PAGE] 
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. 

CHARGE SHEET 

I. PERSONAL DATA 
1. NAME OF ACCUSED (Last, FIlSt. MO 

Trefn 	Jeremiah J 
2 SSN 

(b)(6) 

3. FtANK/RATE 

PFC 
4 PAY GRADE 

E-*/ 
5 uNIT OR ORGANIZATION 

2D Battalion, 2nd Marines. lstMarDiv, Camp Pendleton. CA 92055-5380 

6 CURRENT SERVIC 
a. INITIAL DATE 

16 Jun 03 
b TERM 

4 vrs 
7 PAY PER MONTH 8 NATURE OF RESTRAINT OF ACCUSED 

Not Applicable 

9 DATE(S) IMPOSED 

None 

a 	BASIC 0 SEA/FOREIGN DUTY c TOTAL 

$1337.70 $100.00 $1437.70 
II. CHARGES AND SPECIFICATIONS 

10 	Charge I: Violation of the UCMJ, Article 8 I 

Specification: 	In that Private First Class Jeremiah J. Trefny, U. S. Marine Corps, on active duty, did, at FOB Al 
Mahmudiya, Iraq, on or about 13 April 2004, conspire with Private First Class Andrew J. Sting, U. S. Marine 
Corps, Private First Class Joshua R. Gabbey, U. S. Marine Corps, and Sergeant Matthew K. Travis, U. S. Marine 
Corps, to commit an offense under the Uniform Code of Military Justice, to wit: assault of an Iraqi national 
detainee, and in order to effect the object of the cOnspiracy PFC Sting pressed live electrical wires against the 
bare skin of the said detainee with the intent to cause an electrical shock. 

Charge II: Violation of the UCMJ, Article 90 

Specification: In that Private First Class Jeremiah J. Trefny, U. S. Marine Corps, on active duty, having received 
a lawful command from Major 	 U. S. Marine Corps, his superior commissioned officer, 
then known by the said Private First Class Trefny to be his superior commissioned officer, not to discuss any. 
information about the investigation with anyone, or words to that effect, did, at FOB Al Mahmudiya, Iraq, on or 
about 4-3. April 2004, willfully disobey the same. 

1 to 
ir -M. ti `t lin i 

- 

- 

(Continued on Su_polemental Page) 
ill. PREFERRAL 

lla NAMF OF AC.CIISFR 

(b)(6) 

above Warned 
specifications 
knowledge of or 

(b)(6) 

.FFIDANIT: 	Beforewre,.the-inclersigned, 

// as/ Firxf A.0) 

accuser this 	ysi 

- b GRADE 

CPL 
c. ORGANIZATION 

HqSvc 
OF ACCUSER 

n IFSSG. MarForPac. CamPen. CA 
e. DATE 

.. CW06- 0 V 
authorized by law to administer oaths in cases of this 

day of 	0/ 	 20 	Ole 	and 
character, personally appeared the 
signed the foregoing charges and 

and that he/she either has perSonal 
of his/her knowledge and belief. 

MarForPac. CamPen, CA 

under oath that helshe is a person subject to th:tniform Code of Military Justice 
has investigated the matters set forth therein and that the same are true to the best 

HoSvcBri, 1 m FSSG. 
Typed Name of Officer 	 Orgerezetion of Officer 

Captain, USMC 	 Judge Advocate 
Grade and Service 	 Official Capacity to Administer Oaths 

(See R.C.M. 307(b)—rnust be commissioned officer) 
(b)(6) 

- 

- - - - . - --- 	 ---- 
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DD FORM 458(CHARGE SHEET)1C0 U. S. V PRIVATE FIRST CLASS JEREMIAH J. TREFNY, USMC 
SUPPLEMENTAL PAGE I OF I 

Charge III: Violation of the UCMJ, Article 92 

Specification: In that Private First Class Jeremiah J. Trefny, U. S. Marine Corps, on active duty, who knew of his duties 
at FOB Al Mahmudiya, Iraq, on or about 13 April 2004, was derelict in the performance of those duties in that he 
willfully failed to treat an Iraqi detainee with dignity and respect and to protect the said Iraqi detainee from physical 
harm, as it was his duty to do. 

Charge IV: Violation of the UCMJ, Article 93 

Specification: In that Private First Class Jeremiah J. Trefny, U. S. Marine Corps, on active duty, at FOB Al Mahmudiya, 
Iraq, on or about 13 April 2004, was cruel toward and did maltreat an unknown Iraqi national detainee, a person subject 
to his orders, by assisting and encouraging Private First Class Andrew J. Sting, U.S. Marine Corps, to press live electrical 
wires against the said detainee's bare skin, creating an electrical shock. 

Charge V: Violation of the UCM.J. Article 107 

Specification: In that Private First Class Jeremiah J. Trefny, U. S. Marine Corps, on active duty, did, at FOB Al 
Mahmudiya, Iraq, on or about 16 April 2004, with intent to deceive, malce to Major (b)(6) 	 U. S. Marine 
Corps, an official statement, to wit: "Sergeant Travis was not present at the time of the detainee mistreatment," or words 
to that effect, which statement was totallyfalse, and was then known by the said Private First Class Trefny to be so false. 

Charge VI: Violation of the UCMJ, Article 128 

Specification: In that Private First_Class Jeremiah J. Trefny, U. S. Marine Corps, on active duty, did, at FOB Al 
Mahmudiya, Iraq, on or about 13 April 2004, commit an assault upon an unknown Iraqi national detainee, by encouraging 
PFC Andrew J. Sting, U.S. Marine Corps, to conunit and assisting PFC Sting in the commission of pressing live electrical 
wires against the said detainee's bare chest and back, creating an electrical shock, a means likely to produce death or 
grievous bodily harm. 
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12. On 	MAI 	,20 	0 .--1 	, the accused was informed of the charges against himther and of the name(s) of 
308 tf notification cannot be made.) 

2D Bn., 21'4 Mar, 1st MarDiv, CamPen, CA 

the accuser(s) known to me. (See R..C.M. 308(a)). (See R.C.M. 

(b)(6) 	, 

Typed Name of Immediate Commander 	 Organttation of Immedlele 

V° Lielltellalli 

Commander 

Grade 

(b)(6) 

i V"' Sknature 

IV. RECEIPT BY SUMMARY COURT-MART1AL CONVENING AUTHORITY 

13. The swom charges were received at 	l 700 	hours 	10 svf y 	20 	044 	at 	2D Bn, 2nd Mar, 

111MarDiv. CamPen, CA 92055-5380 
Designation of Convnand or 

Offic,er 

Officer Exercising Summary Court-Martial Jurisdiction (See R.C.M 403) 

(b)(6) 

FOR THE' 	Commanding 

Legal Officer 
Typed Name of Officer 	 Official Cepecily 

2ad Lieutenant 

of Officer Signing 

Gracie 
. 

(b)(6) 

I ' ' SkIneture 

V, REFERRAL: SERVICE OF CHARM., 	  
b. PLACE 

CarnPen, CA 92055-5380 

c. DAIS 

IA MAY 0 

14a. DESIGNATION OF COMMAND OF CONVENING AUTHORITY 

2D Bn, ed Mar, I' garDiv 

Referred for trial to the 	Sfee f A L 	court-martial convened by 	Covit-t- Pilttriro. 	GoroVerviNt> o mair2. 
S 5 n, it I— 0 i 

a . -. 	1 	 NAY 	20 	(Lti_ . ,subject to the following instructions:2 None. 

By 	11111111111111111111111111111111111 	of 
Commend or Order 

(b)(6) 	 Commanding Officer 
Typed Name of Officer 	 Official Capacity 

Lieutenant Colonel . 	 . . 

of Officer Signing 

Grade 

(b)(6) 

_ 
• eignasse 	• 

15. On ill iv 	20 	O 	, I (caused to 7 be) served a copy hereof on (each of) the above named accused. 

Captain (b)(6) 
• Tuns.. 101 alma nf 7'4.1 ftrv1111.1Pi 	 Grads oc Rank 

(b)(6) 

of Trial Counsel 

i FOOTNOTES 	/ — When an appropriate commander signs personally, inapplicable words are strIc.lorn 

1 — See R.C.M. 601(e) concerning inginictionS. if nOne. so state. 
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thereunder: 	 Guilty; 

thereunder: Guilty; to 
the Lesser 
Included Offense 
of Article 92, 
failure to obey 
other lawful 
order; 

MJ: 	Accused and counsel, please rise. 

The accused and his counsel did as directed. 

MJ: 
	Private First Class Jeremiah J. Trefny, United States 

Marine Corps, I now ask you how you plead. But before 
receiving your pleas, I advise you that any motions to 
dismiss or to grant any other relief should be made at 
this time. 

DC: 

MJ: 

DC: 

Defense? 

Defense has no motions. 

And your pleas? 

To Charge I and 
The Specification 

To Charge Il and 
The Specification 

To Charge III, IV, and V, and 
The specifications thereunder: 

And to Charge VI: 

Guilty; 

Not Guilty, and 
the specification 
thereunder. 

MJ: 	All right. As -- as to Charge II, you are pleading not 
guilty to a violation of Article 90, but guilty to the 
lesser included offense of violation of Article 92? 

DC: 
	

Yes, sir. 

MJ: 
	So to the actual Charge, not guilty, but to the Lesser 

Included Offense, guilty? 

DC: 	Yes, sir. 

MJ: 	And guilty to the Specification thereunder? 
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DC: 	Yes, sir. 

MJ: 	All right. Please be seated. 

The accused and his counsel did as directed. 

MJ: 
	Private First Class Trefny, I will only accept your pleas 

of guilty if you understand their meaning and effect. 

I am going to discuss your pleas of guilty with you at 
this time. This will be a somewhat lengthy process. So 
I want you to keep your seat unless I tell you 
otherwise. And I want you to keep a copy of the charge 
sheet in front of you so you might refer to it as 
necessary. 

If at any time you become confused or have any 
questions, I want you to stop me and, if necessary, 
interrupt me'. And I will give you the opportunity to 
discuss the matter with your defense counsel and clear 
up any questions you may have. 

Do you understand this? 

ACC: 	Yes, sir. 

MJ: 	Do you have any questions at this time? 

ACC: 	No, I do not, sir. 

MJ: 	In addition, this is a large room. There is a lot of 
outside noise. If for any reason you can't hear me or 
you don't understand what I said, I want you also to 
indicate so. And I'll repeat it to make sure that you 
do understand. Okay? 

ACC: 	Yes, sir. 

MJ: 
	A plea of guilty is the strongest form of proof known to 

the law. Based on your plea of guilty alone, without 
receiving any evidence, this court-martial can find you 
guilty of the offenses to which you are pleading guilty. 

Your pleas of guilty, however, will not be accepted 
unless you understand that by pleading guilty you admit 
every element of the offenses to which you are pleading 
guilty and you are pleading guilty because you really 
are guilty. If you do not believe you are guilty, you 
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should not plead guilty for any reason. 

Do you understand this? 

Yes, sir. 

Even if you believe you are guilty, you still have a legal 
and a moral right to plead not guilty and tc require the 
government to prove its case against you, if it can, by 
legal and competent evidence beyond a reasonable doubt. 

If you were to plead not guilty, you would be presumed 
under the law to be nct guilty. And only by introducing 
evidence and proving its case against you beyond a 
reasonable doubt could the government overcome that 
presumption. 

Do you understand this? 

ACC: 	Yes, sir. 

MJ: 	If you plead guilty, there will not be a trial of any 
kind. So by pleading guilty, you have to waive, or in 
other words give up, three very important rights. 

First is the right. against self-incrimination. That is 
the right to say nothing at all about these offenses. 

Second is a right to a trial of the facts by this 
court-martial. That is a right to have this 
court-martial decide whether you are guilty or not 
guilty based on the evidence introduced by the 
prosecution and, if you choose to do so, by the defense. 

And third is a right to confront the witnesses against 
you and to call witnesses on your own behalf. 

Do you understand these rights? 

ACC: 
	Yes, sir. 

MJ: 	Do you understand also that you keep these rights with 
respect to those offenses that you have'pleaded not 
guilty to? 

ACC: 
	Yes, sir. 

MJ: 
	Have you discussed the waiver of these rights with your 
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defense counsel? 

ACC: 	Yes, I have, sir. 

MJ: 	And with respect to those offense/that you have entered 
pleas of guilty, do you want to waive or in other words 
give up those three rights? 

ACC: 	Yes, sir. 

MJ: 	Defense, what advice have you given your client as to the 
maximum sentence? 

DC: 	Sir, I have advised PFC Trefny that the maximum punishment 
in this case is confinement for one vear, discharge from 
the Marine Corps with amp 
forfeitures of two-thirds base pay per month for one 
year, and reduction to the lowest enlisted pay grade, 
E-1. 

Mj: 	Government? 

TC: 	Concur, sir. 

MJ: 	PFC Trefny, your defense counsel has accurately advised 
you as to the maximum sentence you could be subjected to 
based on your pleas of guilty alone. That is you could 
be confined for a period of up to one year, ordered to 
forfeit two-thirds pay per month for up to one year, 
ordered reduced to the lowest enlisted pay grade of 
private, E-1, and separated from the Marine Corps with a 

MX6) 

Is that your understanding? 

ACC: 

MJ: 

ACC: 

MJ: 

ACC: 

MJ: 

Yes, sir. 

And was thatyour understanding when.you entered your 
pleas of guilty? 

Yes, it was, sir. 

Have you had enough t:Lme to prepare your case with your 
defense counsel? 

Yes, I have, sir. 

Are you satisfied with your defense counsel and do you 
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believe that his advice has been in your best interest? 

ACC: 	Yes, I do, sir. 

MJ: 	Are you pleading guilty voluntarily? 

ACC: 	Yes, I am, sir. 

MJ: 	Has anyone tried to force you or threaten you to get you 
to plead guilty? 

ACC: 	No. They have not, sir. 

MJ: 	In a moment, I am going to have you placed under oath, and 
we are going to discuss the facts of your case. If what 
you tell me should later prove to be untrue, your 
answers could be used against you in a prosecution for 
perjury or false statement. 

Do you understand this? 

ACC: 	Yes, sir. 

MJ: 	In addition, the government may ask that I consider your 
answers in deciding on an appropriate sentence. 

Do you understand this as well? 

ACC: 	Yes, sir. 

MJ: 
	

All right. Stand and face the trial counsel, and he will 
administer the oath. 

The accused was sworn. 

MJ: 	PFC Trefny, I have Appellate Exhibit I here, which is a 
stipulation of fact. 

Do you have a signed copy of that at counsel table? 

ACC: 	Yes, I do, sir. 

MJ: 
	I want you to turn to the sixth page of it, which is 

actually the last page of that document. There is a 
name type there, "Jeremiah J. Trefny." 

Do you see that? 
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ACC: 	Yes, sir. 

MJ: 	And above it appears to be a signature. 

Is that your signature? 

ACC: 	Yes, 	t is, sir. 

MJ: 	Prior to your signing this document, had you fully read it 
and discussed it with your defense counsel? 

ACC: 	Yes, I did, sir. 

MJ: 	And did you understand that a stipulation of fact is an 
agreement between you, your defense counsel, and the 
trial counsel that the matters contained in the 
stipulation were true? 

ACC: 	Yes, sir. 

MJ: 	Do you also understand that no one can force you to enter 
into a stipulation of fact? 

ACC: 	Yes, I do, sir. 

MJ: 	Do you also understand that if I accept this stipulation 
that it will bind the parties? And by that, I mean 
neither you, nor your defense counsel, nor the trial 
counsel will be allowed to nut on any evidence to 
challenge or contest or disprove any of the matters 
contained in the stipulation? 

ACC: 	Yes, sir. 

MJ: 
	Do you understand that if I accept this stipulation, it 

will be used in three ways; first, I will use it to 
determine if you are guilty of the offenses to which you 
have entered pleas of guilty to; second, if I find you 
guilty of those offenses, I will use'-it to determine an 
appropriate sentence; and third, if I find you guilty 
and impose a sentence, the appellate courts and any 
reviewing authorities will use this stipulation in part 
to determine the appropriateness of my decisions? 

ACC: 	Yes, sir. 

MJ: 	Do you agree to those uses? 
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ACC: 	Yes, I do, sir. 

MJ: 	Was it a free and voluntary decision on your part to enter 
into this stipulation? 

ACC: 	Yes, it was, sir. 

MJ: 	Is this stipulation being made as a part of your pretrial 
agreement? 

ACC: 	No, it is not, sir. 

MJ: 	In other words, you understand you are free to enter this 
or not enter this -- 

ACC: 	Yes, sir. 

MJ: 	-- as you desire and i will in no way affect the pretrial 
agreement? , 

ACC: 	Yes, sir. 

MJ: 	Is there anything in this stipulation that is untrue or 
inaccurate? 

ACC: 	No, sir. 

MJ: 	Is it entirely correct? 

ACC: 	Yes, sir. 

MJ: 	And you want me to consider it? 

ACC: 	Yes, sir. 

MJ: 	Do both sides agree to the stipulation and its uses? 

TC: 	Yes, sir. 

DC: 	Yes, sir. 

MJ: 	Very well. I will accept t. 

PFC Trefny, I am now going to explain to you the 
elements of the offenses to which you have entered pleas 
of guilty. By "elements," I mean the facts which the 
government would have to prove beyond a reasonable doubt 
before you could be found guilty. 
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As I state each of these elements, I want you to ask 
yourself if it is true and whether or not you want to 
admit that it is true and then be ready to discuss those 
facts with me. All right? 

And you have a copy of the charge sheet in front of you? 

ACC: 	Yes, I do, sir. 

MJ: 	Let me ask counsel, on the conspiracy, it alleges "to 
assault an Iraqi national" by -- and it goes on to talk 
about that the act committed in furtherance of it was 
the application of electric wires to a detainee, which 
would appear to constitute the offense of assault 
consummated by a battery. Was it the intent of the 
parties and the understanding of the parties that that 
is what is actually alleged is -- or was the object of 
the conspiracy, was assault consummated by a battery? 

Tr: 	Yes, sir. 

MJ: 	Do you agree with that? 

DC: 	Yes, sir: 

MJ: 	And Captain MP 	you have not been in any way mislead by 
this Specification? 

DC: 	No, sir. 

MJ: 	All right. Thank you. 

All right. PFC Trefny, we are going to start with the 
Charge I, which alleges a violation of Article 81, 
conspiracy, and we will just work our way through the 
charge sheet in order. All right? 

The offense of conspiracy has two elements: 

The first is that at Forward Operating Base Al 
Mahmudiyah 	Mahmudiyah? 

How do you produce that? 

TC: 	Mahmudiyah, sit. 

MJ: 
	Mahmudiyah? 
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TC: 	Yes, sir. 

Mahmudiyah, Iraq, on or about 13 April 2004, you 
entered into an agreement with Private First Class 
Andrew J. Sting, United States Marine Corps; Private 
First Class Joshua R. Gabby, United States Marine Corps; 
and Sergeant Matthew K. Travis, United States Marine 
Corps, to commit an offense under the Uniform Code of 
Military Justice, that being the offense of assault 
consummated by a battery. 

The second element is while this agreement continued to 
exist and while you remained a party to the agreement, 
Private First Class Sting pressed electric -- pressed 
live electrical wires against the bare skin of an Iraqi 
national detainee with the intent to cause an electric 
shock. 

Do you understand those elements? 

ACC: 	Yes, I do, sir. 

MJ: 
	You are further advise proof that the actual offense of 

assault consummated by a battery occurred is not 
required. However, you must have intended each and 
every element of that intended offense. 

Do you understand that? 

ACC: 	Yes, sir. 

MS: 
	Okay. The elements of assault consummated by a battery 

are that, on the date and place indicated, you did 
bodily harm to this Iraqi detainee. 

The second is that you did so by placing electrical 
wires against his bare skin, thereby causing an electric 
shock. 

And the third is that the bodily harm was done with 
unlawful force or violence. 

You are further advised that the term "as'sault" is an 
attempt or offer with unlawful force or violence to do 
bodily harm to another. 

An assault in which bodily harm is inflicted is called a 
"battery." 
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A "battery" is an unlawful and intentional application 
of force or violence to another. The act must be done 
without any legal justification or excuse and without 
the lawful consent of the victim. 

"Bodily harm" means any physical injury to or offensive 
touching of another person, however slight. 

Do you understand all that? 

ACC: 	Yes, sir. 

MJ: 
	You are further advised that an agreement in a conspiracy 

does not have to be in any particular form. It is 
sufficient if the minds of the parties agree to a common 
understanding or purpose. 

Do you understand that? 

ACC: 	Yes, sir. 

MJ: 
	The overt act required for this offense does not have to 

be a criminal act. But it must be a clear indication 
that the conspiracy is being carried out. And the overt 
act may be done either at the time of or following the 
agreement. The overt act must clearly be independent of 
the agreement itself. And it must be more than merely 
the act of entering into the agreement. 

Any questions about any of that? 

ACC: 	No, sir. 

MJ: 	All right. Let's look at the Specification under 
Charge II. And you have pled guilty not to a violation 
of Article 90, but rather a violation of Article 92. 

There are four elements to this offense: 

The first is that on or about 13 April 2004, there was 
in existen (-4,, A r'PrtAin 	 nrder, that is, an order 
from Major (b)(6) 	 United States Marine 
Corps, to not discuss any information about the 
investigation with anyone, or words to that.effect. 

The second is that you had knowledge of this order. 

The third is that you had a duty to obey the order. 
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And the fourth is that on or about 13 April 2004, at 
Al Mahmudiyah, Iraq, you violated this order by 
discussing the investigation with Private First Class 
Sting. 

Do you understand all that? 

ACC: 	Yes, sir. 

MJ: 	Let's look at Specification -- or rather the Specification 
under Charge III, which alleges a willful dereliction of 
duty. There are three elements to this offense: 

The first is that you had certain prescribed duties, 
that is, to treat Iraqi detainees with dignity and 
respect and to protect them from physical harm. 

The second is that you knew of or reasonably should have 
known of these duties -- excuse me, rather, that you 
knew of these duties. 

The third is that on or about 13 April 2004, at Forward 
Operating Base Al Mahmudiyah, Iraq, you were willfully 
derelict in the performance of these duties in that you 
failed to treat an Iraqi detainee with dignity and 
respect and protect this same detainee from physical 
harm, as it was your duty to do. 

A "duty" may be imposed by regulation, lawful order, or 
custom of the service. 

A person is "derelict in the performance" of that duty 
when he willfully fails to perform those duties. 

"Dereliction" is defined as a failure of duty, a 
shortcoming or a delinquency. 

"Willfully",means intentionally. It refers to the doing 
of an act knowingly and purposely, ipecifically 
intending the natural and probable consequences of that 
act. 

Any questions about that? 

ACC: 	No, sir. 

MJ: 	All right. Let's look at the Specification under 
Charge IV, which alleges a maltreatment. 
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There are two elements to this offense: 

The first is that an unknown Iraqi detainee -- unknown 
Iraqi national detainee was subject to your orders. 

The second is that on or about 13 April 2004, at Forward 
Operating Base Al Mahmudiyah, Iraq, you were cruel 
towards and maltreated this unknown Iraqi detainee by 
assisting and encouraging Private First Class Andrew J. 
Sting, United States Marine Corps, to press live 
electrical wires against the said detainee's bare skin, 
thereby creating an electrical shock. 

The "cruelty and maltreatment" must be real, although it 
does not have to be physical. The imposition of 
necessary and proper duties on a military pexsoni or in 
this case the requirement of obedience to certain orders 
or directives of this Iraqi national, do not necessarily 
establish this offense, even though the duties or the 
requirements were difficult or objectionable. 

"Subject to the orders of" includes persons under the 
direct and immediate command of the accused and all 
persons who by some reason of duty are required to obey 
the lawful orders of the accused. And even if those 
persons are not in your direct chain of command, it 
extends to those both in and out of the military who by 
some law or otherwise are required to obey your orders. 

"Cruel and maltreated" refer to unwarranted, harmful, 
abusive, rough, or other unjustifiable treatment which 
under all of the circumstance, A, results in physical or 
mental pain and suffering and, 2), is unwarranted, 
unjustified, and unnecessary for any lawful purpose. 

Do you understand those elements? 

ACC: 	Yes, sir. 

MJ: 	Any questions? 

ACC: 	No, sir. 

MJ: 	All right. Let's look at the specification under 
Charge V, which alleges a false official statement. 
There are four elements to this offense: 

The first is that on or about 16 April 2003, at Forward 

19 

DOD JUNE 	 219 

DOD055615 
ACLU-RDI 2321 p.37



Oberatina Base Al Mahmudiyah, Iraq, you made to Major 
United States Marine Corps, a 

certain orriciai statement, that is Sergeant Travis was 
not present at the time of the detainee mistreatment. 

The second element is the statement was totally false. 

The third element is that you knew it was false at the 
time that you made it. 

And the fourth element is the statement was made with 
the intent to deceive Major 43)(6) 

The term "intent to deceive" means to purposely mislead, 
to cheat, to trick another, or to cause another to 
believe as true that which is false. 

Any questions about that offense? 

ACC: 	No, sir. 

MJ: 	All right. Let's pull out the stipulation of fact, and we 
will start working our way through it. 

, 

And you said everything in this stipulation is true? 

ACC: 	Yes, sir. 

MJ: 	And there is nothing you want to change. 

Is that correct? 

ACC: 	Yes, sir. 

MJ: 	All right. Up at the top there in Paragraph 1, it says 
that you came on active duty on the 16th of June of 
2003. 

Is that a cOrrect statement? 

ACC: 	Yes, sir. 

MJ: 	And that was for a period of four years? 

ACC: 	Yes, sir. 

MJ: 	Have you ever been released from active duty or discharged 
since that date? 
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ACC: 	No, sir. 

MJ: 	Were you on active duty stationed at the Forward Operating 
Base Al Mahmudiyah, Iraq, on or about 13 April 2CO4? 

ACC: 	Yes, sir. 

MJ: 	And on that date, did you enter into an agreement with 
Sergeant Travis, Private First Class Sting, and Gabby, 
to assault some Iraqi national? 

ACC: 	Yes, sir. 

MJ: 	Tell me how you came to enter into that agreement? 

ACC: 	That morning, sir, Sergeant Travis had brought in the 
wires and handed them to us, making the statement, you 
know, No-es-coot, this -- 

MJ: 	He what? 

No-es-coot. That is Arabic for be quiet. And he said, 
you know, No-es-coot, you know. This will make him be 
quiet. When Gabby started making head calls, he -- 
when --The got to the detainee that got shocked. And 
when he took him out, me and Sting got the wires ready, 
prepped them. And when he brought him in, he walked him 
by, and we could not shock him the first time he walked 
by. I believe he walked him by too fast. So we told 
him to turn him around and take him back to the door and 
bring him back a second time, so we could shock him. He 
brought him back the second time and stopped him, and 
then PFC Sting shocked him on the arm, and we put him 
back into his cage. 

How is it that you came to enter into this agreement? 
Describe the discussion for me between you, Gabby, 
Sting, and Travis? 

I don't believe Gabby -- we didn't -- I don't think he 
really knew until we told him to take the Iraqi back to 
the door and to walk him back again the second time. Me 
and Sting knew. I don't remember what we discussed, 
sir, but we were getting -- we were getting it ready. 
We both were talking about shocking him. I don't 
remember the exact conversation we had, but we were 
getting -- 
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MJ: 	Both you and Sting were talking about it? 

ACC: 	Yes, sir. 

MJ: 	Well, were you talking also with Sergeant Travis? 

ACC: 	No, sir. 

MJ: 	Was he talking to you at all -- 

ACC: 	I don't remember him talking to us, sir. 

MJ: 	Did he provide the wires? 

ACC: 	Yes, he did, sir. 

MJ: 	How is it that he came to gve you these wires. 

ACC: 	He brought them into the tent and just, like, handed them 
to us. I don't know where he got them from. 

MJ: 	And you said he said something about -- in Arabic about 
shutting him up? 

ACC: 	Yes, si't. 

MJ: 	And what did you think he meant when he said that and 
handed you the wires? 

ACC: 	That if -- I believed that if we -- we shocked him -- and 
that would get -- get him to shut up and he would be 
more afraid to talk. 

MJ: 
	 So do you believe that based on what Sergeant Travis said 

and your discussion with Sting and ultimately with Gabby 
bringing the prisoner back around a second time -- or 
the detainee back around a second time, that there was a 
meeting of the minds? 

ACC: 
	Yes, sir. 

MJ: 	Dc you think that you all arrived at an understanding that 
you were going to try to shock this individual and 
thereby, in doing so, commit an assault? 

ACC: 	Yes, sir. 

MJ: 
	And that was your intent? 
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ACC: 	Yes, Sir. 

MJ: 	And when I say "assault," I mean assault consummated by a 
battery as I defined that offense for you? 

ACC: 	Yes, sir. 

MJ: 	Do you need me to go over that for you again? 

ACC: 	No, sir. 

MJ: 	And you remained a party to this agreement through the -- 
the shocking of this Iraqi national? 

ACC: 	Yes, sir. 

MJ: 	And was the application of this electric charge to this 
Iraqi's arm, was that done in furtherance of your 
agreement? In other words, was it done in order to 
bring aboutthe -- the assault that you agreed to commit 
on this Iraqi national? 

ACC: 	Yes, sir. 

MJ: 	Did you'ever try to withdraw from the agreement? 

AC(': 	No, I did not, sir. 

MJ: 	Did you ever counsel anybody that you ought -- ought not 
to be shocking this prisoner -- or detainee rather? 

ACC: 	No, sir. 

MJ: 	As I look at this stipulation, it looked like you brought 
him by the first time and it was too quick, you couldn't 
get the wires on him, so he was brought back a second 
time. And initially Sting put one wire on his back and 
one on his chest. But it did -- it did not cause shock 
that you desired to cause. 

Is that true? 

ACC: 	Yes, sir. 

MJ: 	Do you know why not? 

ACC: 	I believe it was because he had clothing on, sir. I don't 
think they made enough contact to spark. 
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MJ: 	What exactly was your part in preparing the wires to be 
used on this Iraqi? 

ACC: 	I believe I may have plugged them in, sir. I don't 
remember. I know I helped plug them in either way. And 
I also told PFC Sting how to burn off the dead wires at 
the end so that they would be live. 

	

MJ: 	What do you mean "burn off the dead wires"? 

	

ACC: 	When they were first put together, they weren't sparking. 
So I told him, kind of twist them up. And I told him, 
basically, how to burn off the dead, the burned out 
strands so that -- 

	

MJ: 	To get the oxidation and things off of the end of the -- 
of the wire? 

	

ACC: 	Yes, sir. 

	

MJ: 	So it would pass the electricity like you desired? 

	

ACC: 	Yes, sir. 

	

MJ: 	And youplugged the wires into this transformer? 

	

ACC: 	Yes, sir. 

	

MJ: 	And that would -- and that would administer the shock? 

	

ACC: 	Yes, sir. 

	

MJ: 	How much voltage was involved? 

	

ACC: 	The converter drops it down to 110 volts, sir. 

	

MJ: 	So your intent was to -- to shock him with 110 volts of AC 
electricity? 

	

ACC: 	Yes, sir. 

	

MJ: 	And that is in fact what Sting did? 

	

ACC: 	Yes, sir. 

MJ: 	And where was Travis at this time? 

	

ACC: 	In the -- back towards the door when he got shocked, sir. 
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MJ: 	He was back towards the door into the -- 

ACC: 	Are you talking about when we plugged the wires in, si.r. 

MJ: 	No. I am talking -- well, where was he at when you 
plugged the wires in? 

ACC: 	I don't remember, sir. 

MJ: 	Where was he at when you actually shocked the detainee? 

ACC: 	Back towards the doorway where we kept the water and their 
blankets, sir. 

MJ: 	Was that an exit to the -- from the -- into and out of the 
tent? 

ACC: 	Yes, sir. 

MJ: 	Did you belLeve you had to shock this detainee because of 
anything said by Sergeant Travis? 

ACC: 	No, sir. 

	

tiMJ: 	Did youl'any way interpret anything that Sergeant Travis 
did or said as an order for you to shock this detainee? 

ACC: 	No, sir. 

MJ: 	Do you feel that you had a free and voluntary decision to 
make there? 

ACC: 	Yes, sir. 

MJ: 	And when making that decision, you elected to enter into 
this agreement and ultimately to shock this detainee? 

ACC: 	Yes, sir. 

MJ: 	Did anyone or anything force you to 'do that? 

	

ACC: 	No, sir. 

MJ: 	Was this detainee subject to your orders? 

ACC: 	Yes, he was, sir. 

MJ: 	And that is because he had been taken into U.S. custody by 
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the United States Marine Corps? 

ACC: 	Yes, sir. 

MJ: 	And you were placed over him? 

ACC: 	Yes, sir. 

MJ: 	And so it was your responsibility to protect this detainee 
from any -- any harm, to include any indignities, and to 
treat this individual with respect? 

ACC: 	Yes, it was, sir. 

MJ: 	Do you believe your actions in having him shocked violated 
those responsibilities? 

ACC: 	Yes, I do, sir. 

MJ: 	And how so? • 

ACC: 	it wasn't protecting him, it was causing him harm. It was 
what we were supposed to be preventing from happening, 
sir. 

MJ: 
	Well, do you believe that shocking someone or subjecting 

him to electric shock would adversely impact the dignity 
that they are deserving of? 

ACC: 	Yes, sir. 

MJ: 	And t would show them some disrespect? . 

ACC: 	Yes, sir. 

MJ: 	Do you think your actions in doing so were wrong? 

ACC: 	Yes, sir. 

TC: 	Sir, I request a brief recess. 

MJ: 	The court is in recess. 

The court-martial recessed at 1415, 14 May 2004. 

The court-martial was called to order at 1416, 14 May 2004. 

MJ: 	The court will come to order. The record will reflect all 
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those present when the court recessed are again present. 

PFC Trefny, I am looking at Page 4 of the stipulation. 
And up at the top under the word "specification," it 
indicates that you were aware of your duty to treat this 
prisoner or this detainee with dignity and respect and 
that you became aware cf this through training that you 
received. 

Is that a true statement? 

ACC: 	Yes, sir. 

MJ: 	Was there anything that this prisoner did that caused you 
to think it was necessary to apply this electric shock 
to him? 

ACC: 	No, sir. 

MJ: 	Did his talking and failing to comply with your 
directions -- apparently, he wouldn't stand up when you 
told him to, he wouldn't stop talking when you told him 
to, were these things such that they represented a 
threat to either the security or safety of either the 
facility or the people in the facility? 

ACC: 	No, sir. 

MJ: 	Were there other things that you could have done with this 
detainee to keep him from talking to other prisoners -- 
or rather other detainees, short of shocking him? 

ACC: 	Yes, sir. 

MJ: 	Could you have placed him in another location where he 
would have been more isolated from the other detainees? 

ACC: 	Yes, sir. 

MJ: 	Would that have been a viable opti6h? 

ACC: 	Yes, sir. 

MJ: 	Could you have gagged him? 

ACC: 	I don't believe, sir. 

MJ: 	Why not? 
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ACC: 	By "gagging," do you mean, like, taping his mouth shut 
or -- 

MJ: 	Yes. 

ACC: 	I don't know -- I don't know if they would have -- or the 
command there would have allowed that, sir. 

MJ: 	But that would have been something you could have explored 
with the command? 

ACC: 	Yes, sir. 

MJ: 	That may have been a viable option that would have been 
maybe more appropriate than applying electric shock to 
this individual? 

ACC: 	Yes, sir. 

MJ: 	And that would have, of course, kept him quiet? 

ACC: 	Yes, sir. 

MJ: 	Was there anything about his conduct that you believe 
justifi.ed your actions in -- in assisting to have him 
subject to this electric shock? 

ACC: 	No, sir. 

MJ: 	Were your actions in assisting -- in applying this 
electric shock willful actions on your part? 

ACC: 	Yes, sir. 

MJ: 	Would you describe it as a willful dereliction then? 

ACC: 	Yes, sir. 

MJ: 	In other words, you purposely deviated from your 
responsibilities in applying this electric shock? 

ACC: 	Yes, sir. 

MJ: 	And do you believe that this detainee was required to 
submit to your direction? 

ACC: 	Yes, sir. 
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MJ: 	That was because you were armed? 

ACC: 	We were not armed, sir. 

	

MJ: 	Then why was he required to submit to your direction? 

ACC: 	We were in charge cf him, sir. 

	

Mj: 	Did he have any way to resist? 

	

ACC: 	I am not sure I know what you mean, sir. 

	

MJ: 	Well, if you told him to do something, like if you told 
him to get up and go to the head, could he have refused? 

	

ACC: 	I don't -- I don't think so, sir. 

	

Mj: 	Do you -- 

Let's take a short recess. The court is in recess. 

The court-martial recessed at 1419, 14 May 2004. 

The court-martial was called to order at 1422, 14 May 2004. 

	

MJ: 	The court will come to crder. The record will reflect all 
those present when the court recessed are again present. 

In looking at the violation of Article 93, you believe 
that this detainee had to comply with your orders? 

	

ACC: 	Yes, sir. 

MJ: 	It says here in the stipulation -- I am on Page 4 -- that 
your behavior was unwarranted, harmful, abusive, rough, 
or other unjustifiable treatment. How would you 
characterize it, one or all of those things? 

The accused consulted with counsel. 

	

ACC: 	All of them, sir. 

Mj: 	So we could take out the "or" and substitute the word 
"and"? 

	

ACC: 	Yes, sir. 

MJ: 	Do you believe as such that it constituted cruelty and 
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maltreatment as I defined those terms for you? 

ACC: 	Yes, sir. 

MJ: 	Do you believe this detainee in any way consented to being 
shocked electrically? 

ACC: 	No, I do not, sir. 

MJ: 	Would you describe that as a harmful act? 

ACC: 	Yes, I would, sir. 

MJ: 	And that it caused that detainee pain or other suffering? 

ACC: 	Yes, sir. 

MJ: 	Let's talk about the violation of Article 107. It 
indicates in here that You did in fact submit to an 
interview by-Major (b)(6) 

Is that a true statement? 

ACC: 	Yes, sir. 

MJ: 	And you knew Major (WM 	was conducting an official 
investigation? 

ACC: 	Yes, I did, sir. 

X:: 	Now, it says here that you did not receive any kind of a 
warning, in other words an Article 31(b) warning or a 
Fifth Amendment warning about remaining silent. 

Is that true? 

ACC: 	Yes, it is, sir. 

MJ: 	Have you discussed with your defense, counsel that failure 
to warn most likely would render that statement as being 
inadmissible against you at a trial by court-martial? 

ACC: 	Yes, sir. 

MJ: 	Do you specifically understand that by pleading guilty to 
this offense, you are waiving any possible defense based 
on that failure to warn you? 
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ACC: 	Yes, I do, sir. 

MJ: 	That would mean that not only could it not be used against 
you for that particular charge but any other charge. 

Do you understand that? 

ACC: 	Yes, sir. 

MJ: 	And is it your intent, Captain 0:x6y 	zo waive that? 

DC: 	Yes, sir. 

MJ: 	Thank you. 

PFC Trefny, do you believe that Major (10(6) 	was 
conducting an official investigation? 

ACC: 	Yes, I do, sir. 

MJ: 	And that as such, your statements made to him were 
required to be true? 

ACC: 	Yes, sir. 

MJ: 	Even though you could have said nothing at all. But when 
you chose to speak, you had to speak truthfully? 

Do vou understand that? 

ACC: 	Yes, sir. 

MJ: 	And was it your intent to deceive Major mo) ? 

ACC: 	Yes, it was, sir. 

MJ: 	What was false about your statement? 

ACC: 	I had told him that Sergeant Travis,was not there, sir. 

MJ: 	And was Sergeant Travis there? 

ACC: 	Yes, sir. 

MJ: 	Was he there through the whole period or minimally before 
and after the -- or before and during the shocking of 
this individual? 

31 

DOD JUNE 	 231 

DOD055627 
ACLU-RDI 2321 p.49



ACC: 	Before and during, sir. 

MJ: 	Did Major Mg') 	also give you an order not to discuss the 
subject of his inquiry with anyone? 

ACC: 	Yes, he did, sir. 

MJ: 	Did you understand that order? 

ACC: 	Yes, I did, sir. 

MJ: 	Did you know Major(WM 	to be a commissioned officer in 
the Marine Corps? 

ACC: 	Yes, I did, sir. 

MJ: 	And you knew that at the time that he issued that order to 
you? 

ACC: 	Yes, I did, sir. 

MJ: 	Do you believe you had a duty to obey that order? 

ACC: 	Yes, sir: 

And why is that? 

ACC: 	He was a superior commissioned officer to me, sir. 

• MJ: 	And did you obey that order? 

ACC: 	No, I did not, sir. 

MJ: 	Why not? 

ACC: 	I wanted to talk to St:ing about the incident, sir, and see 
what was going on. 

MJ: 	So you -- you did in fact disobey thAt order? 

ACC: 	Yes, I did, sir. 

MJ: 	Was that a free and voluntary decision on your part? 

ACC: 	Yes, it was, sir. 

MJ: 	Did you understand the order at the time it was given? 
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ACC: 	Yes, I did, 

MJ: 	Was there any question in your mind as to the nature and 
scope of the order? 

ACC: 	No, there was not, sir. 

MJ: 	Da you believe you had any legal justification or excuse 
for disobeying that order? 

ACC: 	No, I do not, sir. 

MJ: 	And did that happen on the 16th of April of this year? 

ACC: 	Yes, sir. 

MJ: 	Did all of these events take place in Iraq at Forward 
Operating Base Al Mahmudiyah? 

ACC: 	Yes, it did, sir. 

MJ: 	Were these free and voluntary actions on your part 
throughout? 

ACC: 	Yes, th.ey were, sir. 

MJ: 	Did anyone or anything force you to undertake these 
actions? 

ACC: 	No. They did not, sir. 

MJ: 	Okay. Had you wanted to, could you have avoided 
undertaking these activities? 

ACC: 	Yes, I could have, sir. 

MJ: 	Do you believe you had any legal justification or excuse 
for any of your actions? 

ACC: 	No, I do not, sir. 

MJ: 	Do you think you were wrong on each account? 

ACC: 	Yes, I do, sir. 

MJ: 	Do the elements as I described them for you-, along with 
the facts we have discussed and the matters contained in 
the stipulation of fact, describe accurately what you 
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did on each and every occasion? 

ACC: 	Yes, sir. 

MJ: 	Does either side desire any additional questions? 

TC: 	No, sir. 

DC: 	No, sir. 

/"" MJ: 	PFC Trefny, i=remrd I have Appellate Exhibit II, which is a 
memorandum of pretrial agreement. 

Do you have a signed copy of that in front of you? 

ACC: 

MJ: 

ACC: 

MJ: 

ACC: 

ACC: 

MJ: 

ACC: 

Mj: 

ACC: 

MJ: 

Yes, I do, sir. 

I want you to turn to the fourth page of that document. 
And up on the top, there is a name typed there, 
"Jeremiah 	Trefny." 

Do you see that? 

Yes, I do, sir. 

There appears to be a signature above it. 

Is that your signature? 

Yes, it is, sir. 

Does your signature also appear on the sentence limitation 
provisions of the agreement? 

Yes, it does, sir. 

Prior to your signing these two documents, had you fully 
read them and discussed them with your defense counsel? 

Yes, I did,'sir. 

And did you understand and agree to each and every 
provision, to include the sentence limitation 
provisions? 

Yes, I did, sir. 

Was it a free and voluntary decision on your part to enter 
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into this agreement? 

ACC: 	Yes, it was, sir. 

MJ: 	Has anyone tried to force you or threaten you to oet you 
to enter into this agreement? 

ACC: 	No, sir. 

Mj: 	Let's start with Paragraph 1 of the pretrial agreement. 
And I know you have said you understand it, but the law 
requires that we discuss it here in open court. So we 
will start with Paragraph 1 and work our way through. 

All right? 

ACC: 	Yes, sir. 

Paragraph 1 says in exchange for your pleas of guilty, the 
convening authority has agreed to limit the sentences 
you have indicated. And it goes on to say that he will 
withdraw, ultimately to dismiss with prejudice, those 
charges and specifications you have pled not guilty to. 

Do you ,11-iderstand that? 

ACC: 	Yes, sir. 

MJ: 	Paragraph 2 says you are fully satisfied with your defense 
counsel. 

Does that remain true? 

AnC: 	Yes, it does, sir. 

MJ: 	Paragraph 3 says you have been advised and understand that 
neither the offer nor the agreement may be used against 
you in a determination of your guilt. 

Do you understand that? 

ACC: 	Yes, sir. 

MJ: 	Paragraph 4 says that you understand that for purposes of 
this agreement, the punishments to be considered in the 
five parts listed, that is period of confinement -- or 
rather, excuse me, punitive discharge, period of 
confinement, amount of forfeiture of pay, reduction in 
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rate or grade, and any other lawful punishment. 

Do you understand each of these? 

ACC: 	Yes, sir. 

MJ: 	Paragraph 5 indicates that you understand you get the 
benefit of the lesser of either the sentence this court 
adjudges or that provided in the pretrial agreement. 

Do you understand that? 

ACC: 	Yes, sir. 

MJ: 	Paragraph 6 says you have been fully advised and 
understand the various provisions of the UCMJ which deal 
with automatic execution of certain sentences as well as 
automatic forfeiture and reduction provisions. 

Do you understand each of these? 

ACC: 	Yes, sir. 

MJ: 
	

Paragraph 7 says you have been fully advised and 
understand the meaning and effect of your pleas of 
guilty'and the intended consequences, to include the. 
possibility of an administrative discharge, in which 
case your service could be characterized as other than 
honorable. 

Do you understand each of those? 

ACC: 	Yes, sir. 

MJ: 	Paragraph 8 says that you understand that if for some 
reason your pleas of guilty do not remain in effect 
until I announce sentence, the convening authority is 
free to withdraw from this agreement. 

Do you understand that? 

ACC: 	Yes, sir. 

MJ: 
	Paragraph 9 says that you understand you may withdraw from 

this pretrial agreement at any time -- or rather, 
withdraw your guilty pleas at any time before I announce 
sentence. And if you have a good reason, 	permit 
you to do so. 
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Do you understand that? 

ACC: 	Yes, sir. 

MJ: 	Patrol 1C lays out the pleas that you have agreed to 
enter, whith you have complied with. 

Paragraph 11 indicates that you have agreed to testify 
truthfully at both the pretrial investigations of the 
individuals listed there, that is Sergeant Travis, PFC 
Sting, and PFC Gabby. 

Do you understand that -- that information? 

ACC: 	Yes, sir. 

MJ: 
	Paragraph 12 indicates your understanding that, for 

purposes of this agreement, misconduct is defined as any 
act or omission on your part that would constitute a 
violation of the Uniform Code of Military Justice. 

Paragraph 13 indicates your understanding that all of 
the terms of this agreement are material, which means 
that they have significance to the parties. And it goes 
on to say that you understand that any act of misconduct 
or any'violation of a term of this agreement, either 
before or after trial, could cause you to lose the 
benefit of this agreement. 

Do you understand that? 

ACC: 	Yes, sir. 

MJ: 
	Paragraph 14 indicates that the maximum sentence that the 

convening authority can approve is contained in the 
sentence limitation provisions of the agreement. 

Paragraph 15 indicates you are requesting trial before 
military judge alone, which we have discussed. 

Paragraph 16 is a waiver on your part of government 
expense of any non-local witnesses. 

Do you also understand that there are other methods for 
you to present such testimony should you desire to do 
so? 

ACC: 	Yes, sir. 

37 

D OD JUNE 	 2 3 7 

DOD055633 
ACLU-RDI 2321 p.55



MJ: 
	Paragraph 17 indicates that there is no other 

understandings between you and the convening authority 
other than what is contained in this written document. 

Is that a true statement? 

ACC: 	Yes, sir. 

MJ: 	Do both sides agree and do both sides agree to The Court's 
interpretation? 

TC: 	Yes, sir. 

DC: 	Yes, sir. 

MJ: 	PFC Trefny, do you have any questions about this pretrial 
agreement? 

ACC: 	No, I do not, sir. 

Mj: 	Do you believe you fully understand it? 

ACC: 	Yes, sir. 

MJ: 	Do you, still want tc be bound by it? 

ACC: 	Yes, sir. 

MJ: 	Very well. I find the pretrial agreement to be in accord 
with appellate case law, not contrary to public policy 
or my own notions of fairness, and it is accepted. 

PFC Trefny, do you have any questions about anything we 
have done so far? 

ACC: 	No, I do not, sir. 

MJ: 	Do you still want to plead guilty? 

ACC: 	Yes, I do, sir. 

MJ: 	Very well. I find the accused has knowingly, 
intelligently, and consciously waived his rights against 
self-incrimination, to a trial of the facts by this 
court-martial, and to be confronted by the witnesses 
against him. 

I further find the accused's pleas to be made 
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voluntarily and with a factual basis and they are 
accepted. 

Trial counsel? 

TC: 
	Sir, the government moves to withdraw and dismiss the 

charges to which the accused has pled not guilty, 
w.ithout prejudice, to ripen into prejudice upon 
announcement of sentence. 

MJ: 	Any objection? 

DC: 	No, sir. 

MJ: 	The motion is granted. 

Accused and counsel, please rise. 

The accused and his counsel did as directed. 

MJ: 	Private First Class Jeremiah J. Trefny, United States 
Marine Corps, it is my duty as military judge to inform 
you that, in accordance with your pleas, this court 
finds you: 

Of the charge's and 
specifications thereunder: 	 Guilty. 

Please be seated. 

The accused and his counsel did as directed. 

MJ: 	And I -- am I correct, counsel, that there has been no 
pretrial restraint? 

TC: 	Yes, sir. 

DC: 	That's correct, sir. 

MJ: 	PFC Trefny, you have a right to present matters in 
extenuation and mitigation. That is matters about 
yourself or the offenses that you want this 
court-martial to consider in determining a sentence. 

Included in your right to present such matters is your 
right to testify under oath, to make an unsworn 
statement, or to remain silent. If you elect to testify 
under oath, then you may be cross-examined by the trial 
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counsel and questioned by The Court. If you make an 
unsworn statement, you may not be cross-examined by the 
trial counsel nor may The Court ask you questions. 

You may make an unsworn statement orally, in writing, 
personally, or through counsel, or you may use a 
combination of those methods. If you elect to remain 
silent, that cannot be use against you in any way. 

Do you understand these rights? 

ACC: 	Yes, sir. 

MJ: 	Government? 

TC: 	Sir, the government requests that the matters addressed in 
providency be considered for the purposes of sentencing. 

MJ: 	Any objection? 

DC: 	No, sir. 

MJ: 	Very well. I will. 

TC: 	Sir, may I approach? 

Government offers Prosecution Exhibit 1, marked for 
identification and asks that that the words "for 
identification" be deleted. And I will be calling a 
witnesses to explain the pictures included therein. 

MJ: 	Any objection? Come on up here and look at them. 

The defense counsel did as directed. 

DC: 	No objection, sir. 

MJ: 	Very well. Absent objection, Prosecution Exhibit 1 will 
be admitted, the words "for identification" deleted. 

MJ: 	Captain (bm 

TC: 	Sir, the government calls Captain (WS) 

MJ: 	We are going to take a recess while you get that witness. 

The court-martial recessed at 1437, 14 May 2004. 
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The court-martial was called to order at 1443, 14 May 2004. 

MJ: 	The court will come to order. The record will reflect all 
those present when the court recessed are again present. 

Government? 

TC: 	Sir, the government will proceed with Captain MX6) 

CaptairION 	 U.S. Marine Corps, was called as a 
witness by the prosecution, was sworn, and testified as follows: 

DIRECT EXAMINATION 

Questions by the prosecution (Captain0:0) 

Captain(W) 	please state your name, rank, and 
unit, and spell your last name. 

A. 	MX6) 	 I am a captain. And I am with 
Iask orce 4/z. 

Q• 
	 What is your current billet with 2/2? 

A. 	I'm the judge advocate on the staff. 

What does that mean? 
A. 	I'm the advisor to the Colonel on legal issues. I 

handle all the claims, solacia payments. And also my 
duties are to -- back at Mahmudiyah, I was the OIC of 
the detention facility, and still handle detention 
operations, the detainees. 

Q • 
	 In the month of April, then, were you the officer in 

charge of the detainment facility? 
A. 	Yes, I was. 

Q• 
	 What were your duties then? 

With the detention facility? 

Q. 	 Yes 
A. 	Just to ensure the -- the operation of the detention 

facility, the in-processing, out-processing the 
detainees, and ensure the -- that they were provided 
for. And also from the judge advocate standpoint, I was 
also responsible for all the paperwork that accompanied 
them and their case files. 

Q• 
	 Okay. Do you know PFC Trefny? 

I do. 
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Q. 
	 How do you know him? 

A. 	He was one of the guards at the detention facility. 

Q• 
	 How many guards do you have? 

A. 	 There were 16 guards and one staff NCO. 

Q. 
	 Did you make efforts to inform these guards of their 

duties as it pertained to the detention facility? 
A. 	Constantly. 

Q. 	 Why do you say "constantly"? 
A. 	As a judge advocate coming here to Iraq, I knew that I 

was going to have a large role with the detention 
facility. I didn't know I was going to be the OIC of 
the detention facility, but I knew that I would have a 
big part to play with training the Marines on -- on the 
importance of handling the detainees. It was something 
that we were prepped for prior to coming, all the judge 
advocates, down to battalion level. 

Q. 	 What specific efforts did you make? 
A. 	Prior to coming over, I knew a few months ahead of time. 

Even -- even the months before coming, there were many 
articles in the news about detainee abuse issues, to 
include a lieutenant colonel in the Army who was facing 
a court,martial. So I would always cut those out and 
save them. And my initial brief to the Marines at Camp 
Lejeune and then a follow-on brief that I gave, training 
that I gave to all the guards, always included reading 
these articles and telling them what could happen if 
they didn't do their duties properly. 

Q 	When you say "always" and before you had said 
"constantly," on what kind of basis? Is that a 
week-by-week basis, day-by-day basis? 

A. 	It was day by day. I was -- I was, honestly -- this was 
something that -- that -- that I was fearful of. 

When you say "this," meaning this incident where a 
detainee was shocked? 
Abuse issueS, care for detainees, it' was something 
that -- that I was very afraid of, knowing, having 
seen -- when we -- when we got to Mahmudiyah, there were 
over 20 cases pending for detainee issues that the Army 
had. And my -- my guidance to the Marines was always, 
you know, we can't have that, it is -- it is just not 
acceptable. And it was so high profile. 
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Was PFC Trefny part of these talks and conversations? 
A. 	Yes, he was. 

Q. 
	 Did you ever mention the use of electricity 

specifically? 
A. 	I did. 

Q. 	 How?. 
A. 	Well, it was -- we had just heard even long ago just how 

Saddam used to torture people. And some of the things I 
used to tell the guards was, We don't do that. You 
know, this is not Saddam's torture chambers, just 
hearing how he would shock people into submission. And 
I was just confident that -- that nothing like that 
would ever happen with us. 

Q. 	For what reasons would you detain an Iraqi? 
A. 	Several different reasons, potentially. Sometimes we 

would actually target an individual. Sometimes someone 
else would target the individual and they would tell us 
to go get this person. But usually a unit would 
actually witness the individual or think that they 
witnessed the individual -- the individual engaging in 
anti-Coalition activities. 

Q. 	Are all--these detainees necessarily guilty of something? 
A. 	No. In fact, a large -- it is -- it is -- at the time 

we left Mahmudiyah, we had detained approximately 70 
individuals. And I believe that only 13 were continued 
for detention. And that means that we moved them from 
our short-term tent, which was a short-term holding 
facility, to the Regimental holding facility. So the 
majority of these detainees go back to their families in 
Iraq. 

Do you have knowledge of the specific detainee that was 
mistreated in this incident that we are talking about 
today? 
No, I don't. 

Do you know what has since happened 'to that detainee, 
just by his mere presence as -- presence at the 
detention facility? 
I just know from -- after everything happened, I didn't 
have anything to do with the investigation. I just know 
that through process of elimination that we had let 
go -- we had released, repatriated, several Idetainees 
that weekend. 
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Does that mean that this detainee was released back into 
society? 

A. 	I -- I -- yes. 	Yes. 

Q. 
	 To your knowledge, did any detainees complain to you or 

anybody else about abuse they had received? 
A. 	Never. 

4. 	Do you make efforts to ascertain whether they have been 
mistreated? 

A. 	I always did. If -- the detainees -- the detainees that 
we sent to Regiment were always -- I never discussed 
much with them at all. It was -- we are instructed not 
to. You know, even -- even so much as to telling them, 
You're going -- you're going up. You're staying in jail 
for a long time. It is just better that the 
exploitation teams do that. 

The detainees that are being released, because of the 
guidance that we -- we've been getting ever since this 
mission was put together to win the hearts and minds of 
the Iraqi people, if we were letting someone go into 
society, we were doing so for a couple of reasons, 
either maybe they shouldn't have been apprehended at 
all, or,even if they were apprehended, they should not 
have been -- we didn't have enough information to hold 
them, which means tney were going to go back into 
society. 

Well, I knew enough that they were going to be out there 
and that even if they were potentially bad people that 
this was an opportunity that I had as a member of the 
command to maybe even try and win the hearts and minds, 
not only while they were detained, by treating them 
fairly, but by talking to them when we release them. 
So -- 

Am I correct in that your concern is what these 
detainees may say once they are released out into 
society? 

A. 	Yes. 

TC: 	Thank you, Captain (bm 	That is all I have at this 
time. 

Thank you, sir. 

MJ: 	Defense? 
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DC: 	Yes, sir. 

CROSS-EXAMINATION 

Questions by the defense: 

Q, 	Good morning, Captain (b)(6) 	How are you doing? 
A. 	Good. 

What was your training in regards to how to handle 
detainees? 
Just as a Marine 	cprp5 values, as a -- as a -- to handle 
detainees just aS'a Human. These individuals were 
flex-cuffed, hooded. My training came from seeing so 
many cases of abuse previously; just TBS training that 
we had there about how to handle forward EPWs, 
segregation, silence, speed to the rear, and safeguard, 
and tag; and just the -- just personal beliefs that I 
grew up -- grew up with. You know, you care -- care for 
somebody who is in your -- in your control. 

Q. 	Now, your MOS, you are a 4402. Is that correct? 
A. 	I am a judge advocate. Yes. 

Q. 	And you never received any training concerning detainee 
handling at Naval Justice School? 

A. 	No. As far as the operations of a detention facility? 

Q. 	Correct. 
A. 	No. 

Q• 
	 And you never received any other sort of class, at 

TGAGSA for example? 
No. They didn't teach an operations -- detention 
facility operations course. 

Q. 
	 So your training, essentially, you made up or acquired 

from newspaper clippings. Is that correct? 
A. 	No. The -- I taught myself. Well, I got the -- the 

Division SOP, the Division guidance on the -- the care 
of -- the running of a operation facility, the Division 
SOP that was issued. I believe it was a draft when I 
got it at the BOLT course and -- that you were at as 
well, in California. I think it was mid-February, was 
the course. I received a draft from Division, started 
putting together my guidance to brief the Marines on -- 
on how to handle it. And once we got here, I drafted 
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the Battalion SOP on detention operations off of the 
Division SOP for operations. 

Q. 
	 Now, this class that you gave in -- in Lejeune, how long 

was that class? Do you recall? 
A. 	I -- 

Q. 	How many hours? 
A. 	It was -- it was an hour. I gave an hour rule of 

engagement class. And I gave an hour detainee class. I 
attached to 2/2, I think it was four days before we flew 
to Iraq. Well, I was in Lejeune with them for four 
days. And -- and I went to a week of SASO training in 
Lejeune right after the BOLT course. So -- 

Q. 	And that was to the Battalion, that class? 
A. 	It was to Battalion wide -- yes. It was in the theater 

at Lejeune. Everyone came at Lejeune -- or I believe 
everyone came at Lejeune. I know that the theater was 
full and there were -- 

Q. 
	 Now, was that a Power Point presentation? 

A. 	 It was a Power Point. Yes. 

Q. 
	 And did you have a mike? 

A. 	I didn=.t -- I did have a microphone. Yes, I did. 

Q. 
	 So everybody could hear you. Do you think? 

A. 	 Absolutely. The microphone was -- was pretty loud. 

Q• 
	 Now, you discussed on direct that you were briefed from 

the turnover from the Army when you all turned over at 
Al Mahmudiyah, that they had 20 incidents of abuse? 

A. 	 No. Not at -- not at Mahmudiyah. The Mahmudiyah 
guards, in the -- I believe they were there for seven 
months. When they turned over with me, they had only 
one incident that -- that they told me of, at the 
facility. And that was a soldier had thrown a MRE 
heater and -- and made an explosion in the tent. The 20 
cases that,' was referring to was cases that I had read 
about prior to coming over here. Ahd what really 
highlighted it most in my mind was the lieutenant 
colonel who, during OIF, had discharged his weapon next 
to a detainee in order to obtain information. So my 
guidance to the Marines was, you know, Listen, this -- 
this is such an important issue. We have got to care 
for these individuals. They are under our charge. And 
I just really made it clear to them that -- and it was 
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something that all Marines should know, not just a judge 
advocate. But I felt like I had a better perspective on 
the magnitude of -- of where these things would head in 
a court of law if we did anything wrong. So I put 
the -- the legal spin -- I tried my best to make it 
clear to them that these are high profile cases, and if 
we did anything that their faces were going to be -- 
their names and faces were going to be on CNN, and that 
we needed to do all we could do to care for them. So I 
tried to scare them and train them at the same time. 

Q. 	So in the process of training the Marines, you told them 
to treat these Iraqis humanely. Is that correct? 

A. 	Absolutely. 

Q. 	And the mission also -- well, your mission was to hold 
suspected Iraqis. Is that correct? 

A. 	Yes. 

Q. 	And they were suspected of -- of what exactly? 
A. 	Well, it depended. The -- the units who apprehend are 

out in the field. And it is -- it's hard. They try to 
make their best judgment call on whether or not to bring 
someone in. So the -- the care and handing of all 
detainees -- the caring for them starts right from the 
very beginning because units unfortunately sometimes in 
the heat of the moment potentially apprehend someone 
they shouldn't. If you see someone -- an IED goes off, 
and the unit would see someone fleeing. Well, they 
will -- they will apprehend him. And it is not up to 
them to decide whether or not to let that person go or 
not. So the reason why it is so important to care for 
them right from the very beginning, and for the guards 
especially to care for them, is because it is up to the 
human exploitation team to question them, interrogate 
them, and then make recommendations to the Colonel on 
whether or not this person really, for example, 
detonated an IED or not. 

Now, if a Marine unit in that same scenario, an IED 
explodes, or in another scenario, iT they are engaged 
and capture these Iraqis, they bring them back to your 
facility and that's where they are questioned. Correct? 

A. 	That is correct. 

Q. 	So there is a difficulty in bringing in aggressors into 
your detainee facility and then holding them and caring 
for them. Is that a difficult job, would you say? 
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A. 	It is -- it is a job that requires a great amount of 
responsibility. But -- 

Q. 	Because it is so high profile and so visible. Is that 
correct? 

A. 	 Well, it's -- it -- it -- it -- it's -- you are caring 
for ancther individual. You're -- you're -- this -- 
this person is coming in -- 

Q. 	And it is also because, like you said, we want to win 
the hearts and minds. Is that correct? 

A. 	 Right. And it's -- it's -- it's not the responsibility 
of the guards ever to assist in the interrogations. 

4. 
	 And it is a very important job and it requires a great 

deal of responsibility. Is that correct? 
A. 	 It does. 

DC: 
	Okay. I have no further questions? 

MJ: 
	

Anything elSe? 

TC: 
	

No, sir. 

MJ: 
	 I have no questions. 

The witness was excused and withdrew from the witness chair. 

MJ: 	The court is in recess. 

Tne court-martial recessed at 1459, 14 May 2004. 

Tne court-martial was called to order at 1504, 14 May 2004. 

MJ: 	The court will come to order. The record will reflect 
everyone with the exception of Captainow) 	who were 
present before the court recessed are again present. 

With my permission, Captainmp 	has been excused from 
the remaining of the proceedings. 

MJ: 	Lieutenant (bm 

ATC: 	Sir, the government calls Major (b)(6) 

Major (b)(6) 	 , U.S. Marine Corps, was called as a 
witness by the prosecution, was sworn, and testified as follows: 
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DIRECT EXAMINATION 

Questions by the prosecution (First Lieutenant (WM 

Q• 
	 Sir. nlp■ Acim qrArp vniir nAMP. rA nk, and unit. 

A. 	OXM 	 I'm a major. And I'm 
with Second Battalion, Second Marines. 

Q. 
	 And, sir, what is your billet with 2/2? 

A. 
	 I'm the executive officer. 

Q• 
	 Please describe your duties as the executive officer for 

2/2. 
A. 	 My duties entail supervision of the staff, on a daily 

basis, the functioning of the Battalion, particularly in 
the areas of logistics and administration. 

Q• 
	 And, sir, did you become aware of an incident on 

13 April of this year, involving a detention facility 
and the shocking of a detainee by your guards? 

A. 	 Yes, I did. 

Q. 	 Please describe how that inririent rame to light, sir. 
A. 	I was informed by Captainoo) 	who was the officer 

in charge of the detention facility. He had been 
informed by Gunnery SergeantaNm , who had been informed 
bY (b)(6) 	 that members of the guard force had 
shocked one ot the detainees in the facility. 

ATC: 	Sir, permission to approach? 

MJ: 	You want to just give him this prosecution exhibit? 

ATC: 	Yes, sir. 

MJ: 	I can hand it to him. 

ATC: 	Thank you, sir. 

The military judge is handing to the witness Prosecution 
Exhibit 1. 

Questions by the prosecution (1st Lieutenant om 	)(continued): 

Q. 	 Sir, please take a look at those pictures and describe 
them one by one, starting with the first page. 

A. 	 The first picture is a picture of what was -- 
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Q. 
	 Sir, let me interrupt you for a second. 

A. 	Okay. 

Q. 	I apologize. Please describe -- explain to me if you 
recognize those pictures. 

A. 	Yes, I do recognize them. 

Q. 	 And as a whole, what do they appear to represent, sir? 

MJ: 	Just -- 

I'm sorry. 

Please get on with 	. Just describe them one by one 
please. 

ATC: 	Aye aye, sir. 

WIT: 	Yes, sir. They are photographs. The first one is of a 
white box, which was told to me was a transformer that 
was in the detention facility and was used to shock the 
detainee. 

Now, the second photograph is a -- is a broader picture 
of the detention facility, a desk inside on the right on 
which t-he transformer lies, and was in the vicinity of 
where the detainee was shocked. 

The third picture taken from just inside the door of the 
detention facility shows the length of detention 
facility with the desk on the right with the transformer 
and then the cages where the detainees were -- were 
kept. 

The -- let's see. The fourth picture was the -- the 
backside of the transformer. In particular, the reason 
I took it was because it indicates the voltage of 110, 
which the Marine, a PFC Sting, stated that he -- he knew 
it to be 110 and he used it to plug the -- the wires in 
that he then used to shock the detainee. 

And then the final picture is the -- the front entrance 
to the detention facility itself. 

ATC: 	Thank you, sir. 

Sir, permission to approach? 
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MJ: 	Do you want to just have him give them back to me? 

ATC: 	Yes, sir. 

MJ: 	Okay. 

Questions by the prosecution (1st Lieutenant om 	(continued): 

Sir, in mid-April of this year, was 2/2 engaged in 
combat operations? 
Yes. Mid-April, we were located in Forward Operating 
Base Al Mahmudiyah in Al Mahmudiyah area, which is 
located south of Baghdad. 

Sir, could you please describe for The Court some of 
these combat operations that 2/2 was involved in? 
Broadly, what 2/2 was involved with was both support and 
stability operations and then combat operations of 
patrolling of the area, civil/military affairs 
operations tnroughout Mahmudiyah and the Greater 
Lutafiyah area. 

And, sir, with regard to the detention facility 
incident, the shocking of the detainee, did that have an 
impact 011 the command? 
The impact that it had was that it -- it required, one, 
the relief of the guard force to allow the investigation 
to move forward. That involved my having to stand up an 
entire new guard force to replace the members currently 
in place at the time. 

I had also required a logistical and administrative 
burden in having to bring various witnesses and accused 
together to allow the -- both the -- the investigation 
to occur and this -- and this court-martial to happen. 

Thank you, sir. 

Sir, I have nothing further. 

Defense? 

Yes, sir. 
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CROSS-EXAMINATION 

Questions by the defense: 

Q. 
	 Good afternoon, sir. 

A. 	Good afternoon. 

Q. 	From the day of the incident until the present, has PFC 
Trefny continued to be a member of Second Platoon, Golf 
Company? 

A. 	Yes, he has. 

DC: 	Thank you, sir. 

MJ: 	Anything else? 

ATC: 	No, sir. 

EXAMINATION BY THE COURT 

Questions by the military judge: 

Q. 	Major, ,,do you know if he was ever relieved of his 
duties? 

A. 	No, sir. I am not aware of that. He was returned to 
his platoon and employed by the company commander as he 
saw fit, sir. 

Q. 	 Do you know what his MOS is? 
A. 	He is an infantryman, sir. 

Q. 	0311? 
A. 	Yes, sir. 

Q. 	 And as far as you know, he continued to serve in that 
capacity down in his platoon? 

A. 	Yes, sir, he did. 

MJ: 	Questions in light of mine? 

ATC: 	No, sir. 

DC: 	No, sir. 
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The witness was excused and withdrew from the witness chair. 

MJ: 	Government? 

ATC: 	Sir, the government requests that matters addressed durinc 
providency be considered for purposes of sentencing? 

MJ: 	Any objection? 

DC: 	No, sir. 

MJ: 	Very well. I will. 

Anything else? 

ATC: 	No, sir. The government rests. 

MJ: 	Captain .(b)(6) 

DC: 	Yes, sir. The defense calls Corporal (tom 

corporal (WM) 	 u.s. Marine Corps, was called as a 
witness by the defense, was sworn, and testified as follows: 

DIRECT EXAMINATION 

Questions by the prosecution (First Lieutenant 04(6) 	) 

Q 	 Please state your name, rank, and unit, and spell your 
last name. 

A. 	Corporal (b)(6) 	 2/2, Golf. Last name, 

ATC: 	Thank you. 

MJ: 	Captain (b)(6) 

DC: 	Thank you, sir. 

Questions by the defense: 

Good afternoon, Corporal. How are you doing? 
Pretty good, sir. 

Do you know PFC Trefny? 
Yes, I do, sir. 

And how do you know him? 

53 

Q. 
A. 

Q. 
A. 

DOD JUNE 	 253 

DOD055649 
ACLU-RDI 2321 p.71



A. 	He is in my team. I have been a team leader for about 
eight months now, sir. 

Q. 	And that's a fire team leader? 
A. 	Yes, sir. 

Q. 	And can you describe for the military judge some of the 
things that you, as a fire team leader, have done for 
your unit and the Marine Corps? 

A. 	Check, sir. As a fire team leader, it is a small unit 
leadership. I am in charge of a group of Marines. And 
we take care of certain things for the squad leaders, as 
far as making sure the Marines under us are taken care 
of and that they are always up on their gear, and EDO, 
and things like that, to lessen some stress on the squad 
leader. 

Q. 	And PFC Trefny is in your fire team? 
A. 	 Yes, sir. 

Q. 	And how long have you known him? 
A. 	 I have known him for eight -- about eight months, sir. 

Q. 	And what type of interaction have you had with him 
during that eight months? 

A. 	 He has been in my team the entire time since he came to 
the fleet. So he has always worked under me. 

Q. 	So daily interaction? 
A. 	 Yes, sir. 

Q. 	Pretty much all day every day? 
A. 	 All day every day, pretty much, sir. 

Q. 	And when did you all deploy, leave the States for Iraq? 
A. 	 We left in February, sir. 

Q. 	And what sort of operations have you all been involved 
in? 

A. 	We have been in numerous operations as far as counter 
ambush, counter mortars, patrolling, things like that, 
sir. 

Q. 	So you have been involved in hostile fire fights? 
A. 	 Yes, sir. 

Q. 	And have you had the opportunity to observe PFC Trefny? 
A. 	 Yes, I have, sir. PFC Trefny does very well as -- as a 
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Marine. He is not a Marine that I need to talk to a lot 
about things. He takes care of himself, as far as takes 
initiative to get things done on his own. 

DC: 
	Thank you. I have no further questions. 

MJ: 	Government? 

ATC: 	Nothing, sir. 

EXAMINATION BY THE COURT 

Questions by the military judge: 

Q.. 
	When you say that he has been involved in action with 

you, that would be at a time other than when he was 
assigned as the -- one of the guards of the detainee 
facility? 

A. 	That is correct, sir. The last couple weeks while we 
were out at..our company firm base, he was out there with 
us acting in our squad. 

Q• 	And what type of activities was he engaged with? 
A. 	He was engaged in going out on patrols with us. 

We're —, set up counter ambush, counter mortar 
positions, OPs, things like that, sir. 

4. 	Was he -- I guess, dio he ever get involved in 
firefights or things of that nature? 

A. 	We -- we were involved in some mortar attacks at the 
FOB, sir. 

Q. 	That were -- you were subject to the attacks? 
A. 	Yes, sir. The firm base was attacked, sir. We went out 

on a QRF mission that evening, and we were engaged in 
some hostile fire out there, sir. 

Q. 	And how did PFC Trefny do? 
A. 	He did good, sir. He conducted himself very well under 

pressure and under stress. And I was -- I was able to 
confide in him and know that he would get his job done 
and not have to worry about it, sir. 

MJ: 	Questions in light of mine? 

Defense? 
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DC: 
	No, sir. 

MJ: 
	Trial counsel? 

ATC: 
	No, sir. 

The witness was excused and withdrew from the witness chair. 

MJ: 	Captain 0:1)(6) 

DC: 	Yes, sir. The defense next calls Lieutenant MX6) 

First Lieutenant (" 	 U.S. Marine Corps, was called as 
a witness by the defense, was sworn, and testified as follows: 

DIRECT EXAMINATION 

Questions by the prosecution (First Lieutenant(WP 

Q. 	Would you please state your name, rank, and unit, and 
spell your last name. 

A. 	

MX6) uompany, becona eiatoon. 
	 Lieutenant, 2/2, 

ATC: 	Thank crou. 

MJ: 	 Defense? 

DC: 	Thank you, sir. 

Questions by the defense: 

Q. 	 Good afternoon, Lieutenant "6) 
	

How are you 
doing? 
How are you doing, sir? 

Q. 	What is your current MOS? 
A. 	0302, sir. 

Q. 	And what is your current billet? 
A. 	 Platoon commander of a rifle platoon. 

Q. 	And how long have you had that billet? 
A. 	 Since September of 2003. 

Q. 	And what do your duties entail? 
A. 	 What are you asking, like day-to-day or overall? 
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Q. 	Correct. What do you do on a daily basis? 
A. 	Mostly, I'm tactically in charge of a rifle platoon in 

an infantry battalion. 

Q. 	And how many Marines do you have under your charge? 
A. 	Thirty-six. 

Q. 
	 And do you know PFC Sting? 

A. 	Yes, I do, sir. 

Q. 
	 And PFC Trefny? I'm sorry. 

A. 	Yes, I do, sir. 

Q. 
	 And how do you know him? 

A. 	He is a rifleman in my platoon, sir. 

4. 
	 How long have you known him? 

A. 	Since he came to the fleet, sir. 

Q. 
	 And that was'in approximately November of 2003? 

A. 	Yes, it was, sir. 

Q. 
	 And what kind of -- what type of interaction have you 

had with him? 
A. 	 A lot sfnce we have been in country, sir, definitely 

every day, sir. 

Q. 
	 And so you have had ability to observe his performance? 

A. 	 Yes, I have, sir. 

Q. 
	 What sort of things has he been tasked with that you 

have been able to observe? 
A. 	 Any kind of training that we have done, I have stepped 

back and watched the squad leaders train the Marines, 
stepping in when I feel I need to. 

Q.• 
	 Do you recall any hostile fire that PFC Trefny has been 

involved in that you have been able to observe? 
A. 	Yes, I have, sir. 

Q. 	And what was that? 
A. 	When we were in Yusafiyah, we were called on numerous 

QRF missions. 

Q. 
	 And what does that stand for? 

A. 	 Quick reaction force, sir. 

Q. 	Okay. Go ahead. 
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A. 	 And that is so -- the city council building in Yusafiyah 
would be attacked pretty much on a nightly basis with 
RPG and small arms fire. So we would go and secure the 
building, sir. 

Q• 
	 How many Marines were on the QRF? 

A. 	 Usually around two squads, sir, two or three squads. 

Q• 
	 Approximately 24 Marines? 

A. 	 Yes, sir. 

Q. 
	 And you have to trust those Marines? 

A. 	 Absolutely, sir. 

Q• 
	 During these occasions, how would you rate PFC Trefny's 

performance? 
A. 	 I would say he did his -- he did his job very well, sir. 

Q• 
	 Thank you. 

A. 	 No problem, sir. 

DC: 	No further questions. 

MJ: 
	 Government? 

ATC: 
	

No questions, sir. 

EXAMINATION BY THE COURT 

Questions by the military judge: 

When was he relieved of his duties as a guard? 
I would say the middle of April, sir. 

So while he was assigned as a guard, were you able to 
observe his performance? 
No, I was not, sir. 

Was there times while he was assigned as a guard that he 
would also serve duties with the platoon? 
Yes, sir. Those QRF missions, he was so involved with 
the platoon, he wanted to be part of the platoon, help 
the platoon out, that he would go out with the platoon 
even when he knew he had guard duty the next day. 

Q. 	 And he would volunteer to do that? 
A. 	Yes, he would, sir. 
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Q. 	Would you describe those as dangerous missions? 
A. 	Absolutely, sir. 

Q. 	Were they missions in which you expected and sometimes 
encountered hostile actions? 

A. 	Yes, sir. 

4. 	Were you able to observe him perform during those 
missions? 

A. 	Yes, sir. 

4- 	How did he do? 
A. 	He did very well, sir. 

Q. 	And then once he was relieved, did you return him to his 
normal duties within the platoon? 

A. 	Yes, sir. 

4, 
	Did you see. any change in his performance before as 

opposed to after the relief? 
A. 	Not at all, sir. If -- if anything, he stayed just as 

focused before as now, regarding platoon missions. 

MJ: 
	

Questions in light of mine? 

Captain (b)(6) 

DC: 
	No, sir. 

ATC: 
	No, sir. 

The witness was excused and withdrew from the witness chair. 

MJ: 
	Captain om 

DC: 
	

Yes, sir. PFC Trefny requests to make an unsworn 
statement. 

MJ: 
	

Proceed. 

ACC: 	I would like to start off by apologizing to the detainee. 
I realize it was wrong for us to abuse him. I would 
also like to apologize to my chain of command and to the 
Marine Corps. It was wrong of me to abuse my position 
of authority and to lie about what happened. It brought 
embarrassment upon myself and to the Marine Corps. 
Because of this, I testified for the government at an 
Article 32 on the 12th of May 2004. 
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A little bit about myself, I am from Lebanon, 
Pennsylvania. I have two parents that are awesome. I 
have four brothers. I joined the Marine Corps to help 
me get my life on track and get started in a good 
direction. 

I've been in 2/2, Golf Company, since mid-November 2003. 
We deployed to Iraq in the beginning of March of 04. 

Some of my duties over here have been EPW watch. At 
that time Sergeant Travis was in charge of my post. I 
was also there with PFC Sting and PFC Gabby. I have 
also done patrols, everything from cordoned searches, 
meet-and-greet patrols, to assaults and raids. 

Some of the hardships my platoon has suffered through, 
we've been through mortar attacks. We -- we got hit 
pretty hard at the last FOB we were at. We lost a 
gunny. And we got hit pretty close to where our POS 
was. 

In the light of all this, however, I am requesting a 

4))(16) 	 I understand the full weight and 
negative consequences of my doing so, sir. 

MJ: 	Anything else, Captain (bm 

DC: 	No, sir. Defense rests. 

MJ: 	Is there a case in rebuttal? 

ATC: 	No, sir. 

MJ: 	For purposes of sentencing, I am going to treat the 
violation of Article 92, dereliction of duty, and the 
violation of Article 93 as one offense rather than two 
separate offenses. 

Any questions on that? 

ATC: 	No, sir. 

DC: 	No, sir. 

MJ: 	Argument? 

ATC: 	Yes, sir. 
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Sir, you have heard some mitigating evidence here today. 
You have heard some evidence that PFC Trefny has served 
honorably after this incident in a combat environment in 
combat operations. And government submits that it is 
appropriate for PFC Trefny to receive credit in 
consideration for that. 

However, sir, it is not appropriate for that information 
to -- that Information, sir, doesn't erase what the 
accused did. It doesn't erase what PFC Trefny's 
actions -- the consequences of those actions. And he 
needs to answer for those actions, sir. 

You heard it from Captain(WP 	and from Majo,-MM) 
sir, that 2/2 -- the Marine Corps as a whole but 2/2 in 
particular -- has a delicate mission here in Iraq. 
Security and stabilization operations are a difficult 
business. And we are here to win hearts and minds. 

Sir, it is difficult for 2/2 to win hearts of minds of 
the Iraqi people when 2/2 Marines are applying live 
electric wires to shock the bare skin of their detained 
individuals. 

PFC Tre'fny's actions in this regard were directly 
contrary to the mission of his unit and the mission of 
the Marine Corps. And, sir, on an individual level, PFC 
Trefny's actions were cruel and they were malevolent. 

PFC Trefny was in a position of authority over this 
detainee. The detainee was absolutely powerless. He 
had a sandbag over his head. His wrists were 
flexicuffed together. And he could do absolutely 
nothing to stop what was happening to him. All he could 
do was just hope that -- hope that the Americans were 
better than the regime that they took over from. 

Now, that detainee, sir, that Iraqi national detainee, 
you have heard evidence that he most likely went back 
out to his community. And, sir, he might very well have 
gone back out to that community and spread the word that 
the Americans are no better than Saddam Hussein. Saddam 
Hussein used to torture us in prison. Americans do the 
same thing. 

And that's why, sir that it's important that This Court 
send a counter message both to those Marines that are 
serving in that capacity, guarding detainees -- 
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admittedly a very difficult mission, but a very 
important mission and one that is taking place all over 
Iraq -- that it is not acceptable for those Marines to, 
abuse their position of authority over those -- those 
detainees. And it is also important, sir, to send that 
counter message to the Iraqi people, that this is not 
Saddam's regime. 

Accordingly, sir, an appropriate sentence in this case 
would include, most importantly, themm) 

(b)(6) 	 from the Marine Corps that tne accused nimself 
has requested, no less than eight months confinement, 
two-thirds forfeitures, and reduction to E-1. 

Thank you, sir. 

MJ: 
	Thank you, Lieutenant mm 

Defense, argument? 

DC: 
	Yes, sir. 

These facts present probably the toughest duality of 
being a Marine in a combat environment. 

On one hand, PFC Trefny goes out into the streets of 
Iraq, and fights the fight. He is engaged and returns 
fire. And then on the other hand, he is in charge of 
treating prisoners who may have very well just fired on 
him, treating them humanely. A difficult task, one 
which Captain 0:0) 	taught the Marines. 

Captainmp 	though, received no formal training, 
no hard training on detainee handling. He received most 
of his training from newspaper clippings and various 
OJT, on the job training, in terms of dealing with 
detainees. And this was passed down the line. And PFC 
Trefny understood his duties, that he had to treat 
prisoners humanely. 

But again, the difficulty in the mission. And again, 
the failure in leadership at the lowest level where you 
have a sergeant, an NCO of Marines, who has under his 
wing a Marine who has been in the fleet for six months, 
who has to deal with the problems of, one, aggressing 
and then, two, treating that same aggressor after the 
fact. Which certainly does' not excuse what PFC Trefny 
has pled guilty to, but it is certainly a matter in 
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mitigation as far as dealing with the human element. 

Now, PFC Trefny has accepted responsibility for what he 
has done. He has cooperated with the government. He 
has testified at an Article 32 hearing. 

In.addition to that, as illustrated by Lieutenant 
03)(6) 	, and Corporalmm 	he has performed well in 
a combat environment. He has been a member of the quick 
reaction force. He has received fire. And he has 
returned fire. 

However, in light of PFC Trefny's request -- 

Captain (to) 	I am having trouble here making the 
connection in your argument because I have heard nothing 
from the accused or anything else that would indicate 
that his actions in shocking this detainee in any way 
had anything to do with his experiences in combat. 

Can you, in some way, tie that together for me? Because 
I'm not seeing it. And I -- and I certainly understand 
that people might go out and be involved in combat and 
come back and not be able to turn it off and in some way 
be unusbally harsh in their treatment of a detainee. 
But that is not what has been described here. This was 
a very premeditated activity that wasn't designed to.get 
something back because of some hardship that the accused 
nad suffered, but rather it was a premeditated activity 
designed in order to change the behavior of this 
particular detainee. And I am not seeing the connection 
there in your -- in what I've heard in the argument you 
are making. And I wonder if you can somehow tie that 
together. 

Well, sir, the argument is -- is that it is difficult. 
And to, on one hand, be an aggressor, to fight the 
fight, to take rounds -- 

Well, I guess I can assume that. But nobody has come in 
here and said that. The accused certainly didn't say it 
in anything he presented. He never indicated he was 
having trouble adjusting from the night operations or 
the stability ops and then coming back to acting as a 
guard at this facility. 

What he explained is it was suggested by the sergeant 
that if they were to shock this individual, then he 
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DC: 

would -- he, the detainee, would be more compliant with 
their directions, not that he was having trouble 
adjusting to the two different missions, which seems to 
be what you are arguing. And I'm not seeing -- I'm not 
seeing any evidence of that. 

Is there something you can point me to in either the 
statements by the accused during the care inquiry or 
somewhere else that would lead one to believe that that 
is what precipitated this? 

Well. the basis of the argument comes from Captain 
00)(6) 	testimony concerning the mission at hand. 
When I asked him on cross, did he consider it a 
difficult mission, he said it did and it required a 
great deal of responsibility because we had to treat 
Iraqi detainees who we didn't know exactly why they were 
being held, either they had been witnessed showing 
aggression towards the United States or they had been 
identified as showing aggression, and that that requires 
those same Marines who are engaging the enemy are then 
holding the enemy and then treating the enemy humanely. 
I'm pointing out merely that there is a difficulty in 
that, in that process. 

MJ: 	All right. 

DC: 
	

HnwPIrPn. in lirlhr nf PFC Trefny's request for a 
(b)(6) 	 and considering all the mitigating 
factors, his performance as an infantryman on the 
frontline, an appropriate punishment is 60 days 
confinement, reduction to E-1, and forfeitures of 
two-thirds base pay for 60 days. 

MJ: 	The record will reflect I have deliberated in open court. 

It will also reflect that I have considered all the 
matters that are properly before this court, to include 
the accused's record, albeit short,'-his actions here in 
Iraq as evidenced by his platoon commander and his fire 
team leader. I have also considered the nature of the 
offenses to which the accused has pled guilty and the 
accused's unsworn statement. This sentence reflects not 
the desires of the accused but an assessment by This 
Court as to the severity of the offenses and the impact 
that those offenses have on the mission of the command 
here, potential impact, as well as the need to deter 
such conduct, not only by this accused but others that 

64 

DOD J'UNE 
	 264 

DOD055660 
ACLU-RDI 2321 p.82



may consider such activity. 

Accused and counsel, please rise. 

The accused and his counsel did as directed. 

MJ: 
	Private First Class Jeremiah J. Trefny, United States 

Marine Corps, it is my duty as military judge to inform 
you that this court sentences you: 

To be confined for a period of 8 months; 
To forfeit $795.00 pay per month for a period of 8 
months; 

To be reduced to the pay grade of private, E-1; and 
To be separated from the Marine Corps with amm) 

Be seated please. 

May I see the remaining portion of the pretrial 
agreement? 

CC: 	The defense is handing to the military judge the sentence 
limitation portion of the pretrial agreement. 

MJ: 	All right. As I look at this thing, PFC Trefny, it 
appears that the convening authority is free to approve 
the punitive discharge that was adjudged. 

Do you understand that? 

ACC: 	Yes, sir. 

MJ: 	He is also free to approve the confinement adjudged. 
However, should you submit a request for voluntary 
appellate leave within 10 days of today's date, he is 
obliged to suspend all confinement in excess of 180 days 
for a period of 12 months from the date of his action. 

Do you understand that as well? 

ACC: 	Yes, sir. 

MJ: 
	

And lastly,. he is -- well, not lastly. He is also free 
the approve the other punishments as adjudged. 

Do you understand that as well? 
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ACC: 	Yes, sir. 

MJ: 
	And lastly, as an additional matter, should for some 

reason your pleas be rejected, he has the option of 
referring this matter up to the GCM convening authority 
for referral to a general court-martial. 

Do you understand that as well? 

ACC: 	Yes, sir. 

MJ: 	All right. Any questions about it? 

ACC: 	No, sir. 

MJ: 	Very well. I continue to find the pretrial agreement to 
be in accord with appellate case law, not contrary to 
public policy or my own notions of fairness. And I 
continue to accept it. 

PFC Trefny, I have Appellate Exhibit IV, which is 
appellate rights statement. 

Do you have a signed copy of that in front of you? 

ACC: 	Yes, I do, sir. 

MJ: 	Is that your sicnature that appears on that document? 

ACC: 	Yes, it is, sir. 

MJ: 	Prior to your signing it, had you fully read it and 
discussed it with your defense counsel? 

ACC: 	Yes, I did, sir. 

MJ: 	And did you understand that you were asking that your copy 
of the record of trial along with the staff judge 
advocate's recommendation, for it to be given to your 
defense counsel? 

ACC: 	Yes, sir. 

MJ: 	Is that still your desire? 

ACC: 	Yes, sir. 

MJ: 	Did you otherwise understand all of your appellate rights, 
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and do you have any questions about those rights? 

ACC: 	No, I do not, sir. 

MJ: 	And you understand them? 

ACC: 	Yes, sir. 

MJ: 	All right. Anything further from either side? 

ATC: 	No, sir. 

DC: 	No, sir. 

MJ: 	Very well. The court is adjourned. 

The court -martial adjourned at 1540, 14 May 2004. 
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AUTHENTICATION OF THE RECORD OF TRIAL 

in the case of 

00) Private First Class Jeremiah J. Trefny, 	 U.S. Marine 
Corps, 2d Battalion, 2d Marine Regiment, 1st Marine Division 
(REIN), Forward Operating Base Fallujah, Al Fallujah, Iraq. 

Colonel, U.S. Marine Corps 
Military Judge 

I have examined the record of trial in the foregoing case. 

0:0(6) 

First Lieutenant, 
U.S. Marine Corps Reserve 
Assistant Trial Counsel 
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IN THE SIERRA JUDICIAL CIRCUIT 
SPECIAL COURT -MARTIAL 

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 	) 
) 

v. 	 ) 
) 

JEREMIAH J. TREFNY 	 ) 
(b)(6) 	 ) 

PRIVATE FIRST CLASS 	 ) 
UNITED STATES MARINE CORPS 	) 

STIPULATION OF FACT 

	

1. 	I am Private First Class Jeremiah J. Trefny. I enlisted in the Marine Corps on 16 
June 2003. I have been continuously on active duty since that date. I have not been 
discharged from the United States Marine Corps in that time. The charge to which I am 
pleading guilty occurred while I was a member of 2nd Battalion, 2nd Marines, 1st MarDiv, 
Camp Pendleton, CA. 

	

2. 	I am entering this Stipulation of Fact of my own free will. No one has forced or 
threatened me to enter this Stipulation of Fact. I understand that I have the right NOT to 
enter this Stipulation of Fact and that this Stipulation of Fact will not be accepted without 
my consent. have read and discussed this Stipulation of Fact with my counsel. 
Everything contained Within this Stipulation of Fact is true. I understand that if admitted 
into evidence this Stipulation of Fact will be used in the following three ways. 

a. To determine if I am guilty of the offenses to which I have pled guilty; 
b. To determine an appropriate sentence; and 
c. To be considered by appellate courts and reviewing authorities in reviewing 

my case. 

I agree to these three uses and consent to this Stipulation of Fact being admitted by the 
Military Judge. 

	

3. 	The following general facts are provided to establish the factual predicate that I am 
guilty of each element of the offenses to which I am pleading guilty. 

At approximately 1030 on 13 April 2004, at FOB Al Mahmudiya, Iraq, Sgt Matthew 
Travis found a plug that split into two bare wire ends that were approximately two feet in 
length. A certain detainee, whose name I do not know, was giving our team (Sgt Matthew 
Travis, PFC Andrew J. Sting, PFC Joshua Gabbey, and myself) problems. By problems, I 
mean that he was talking when he was not supposed to talk and he would not stand when 
we wanted to him to stand. Sgt Travis then stated, in the presence of PFC Andrew J. Sting, 
PFC Joshua Gabbey, and myself that shocking the detainee would make him cooperate, 
that is, shocking him would keep him quiet. 
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From Sgt Travis' statement, I understood the plan to be that PFC Sting would insert the 
plug into the transformer that produced 110V and that PFC Sting would touch the wires to 
the detainee as the detainee walked by the table on which the transformer was placed. 

At approximately 1100, PFC Gabbey escorted the detainee from the head into the 
detention facility. PFC Gabbey walked the detainee by PFC Sting too quickly for PFC 
Sting to shock the detainee. PFC Sting and I then told PFC Gabbey.to walk the detainee 
back out of the facility and past PFC Sting who was holding the bare wires that were 
connected to the transformer. PFC Gabbey did as we directed and walked the detainee 
back. PFC Sting placed one end of the wire to the detainee's back and the other end of the 
wire to the detainee's chest. The wires produced no effect presumably because the wires 
touched the detainee's clothing and not the detainee's skin. PFC Sting then placed both 
wires on the detainee's forearm, which produced a shock. The detainee reacted by 
jumping back and lifting the sand bag from his eyes. During this event, Sgt Travis was 
inside the tent and within six feet of the detainee. 

On 16 April 2004, Maj (b)(6) 	 the executive officer of 2nd Battalion, 2nd 
Marines, questioned me concerning the incident that occurred on 13 April 2004. Maj 

(b)(6) did not advise me of my rights in accordance with Article 31b of the UCMJ. Maj 

(b)(6) asked me whether Sgt Matthew Travis was present in the detention. facility at the 
time when PFC Sting shocked the detainee. I told Maj(b)(6) that Sgt Travis was not in 
the detention facility. My statement to Maj (b)(6) was a lie because Sgt Travis was in the 
detention facility. 

After Maj (b)(6) que&lioned me, he ordered me not to discuss any information about the 
investigation with anyone. I understood the order and I believe that the order was a lawful 
order. After I received this order, I discussed the incident and Maj (b)(6) ; questioning of 
me with PFC Sting. I knew at the time that I was violating Maj (b)(6) 	order. 

After I discussed the incident with PFC Sting, Maj (b)(6) questioned me again. Maj (b)(6) 
did not advise me of my rights in accordance with Article 31b of the UCMJ. Maj (b)(6) 

asked me whether I had discussed any information about the investigation with anyone. I 
said that I had discussed information about the investigation with PFC Sting, which was in 
direct violation of-his order. 

4. 	The following specific facts are provided to establish the factual predicate that I am 
guilty of each element of the offenses to which I am pleading guilty. 

CHARGE 1:  

SPECIFICATION:  

The agreement came about as described in paragraph 3. We did not formally discuss what 
part each of us, that is, Sgt Travis, PFC Sting, PFC Gabbey, and myself, wciuld play in the 
agreement. The agreement was to assault the detainee that was giving us problems. The 
assault was the touching of the electrical wires to the detainee. I clearly understood the 
plan and what was being discussed. I agreed with Sgt Travis, PFC Sting, and PFC Gabbey 
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to assault the detainee. The conspiracy encompassed each and every element of the 
underlying offense of assault. The agreement was in existence when the overt act was 
performed. The touching of the wires to the detainee was done in furtherance of the 
conspiracy to assault the detainee. I remained a party to the agreement throughout the 
conspiracy. I never made any attempt to withdraw or abandon from the conspiracy while 
the agreement was in existence. No person or thing forced me into the conspiracy to 
assault the detainee. I could have avoided joining the conspiracy if I had wanted to. I 
joined the conspiracy because of a freely made decision on my part. 

I understand that though I did not touch the electrical wires to the detainee I am.liable, as a 
co-conspirator for all the offenses committed pursuant to the conspiracy while I remained a 
party to the conspiracy. 

I understand that touching the live electrical wires to the detainee resulted in bodily harm. 
I understand that bodily harm means any physical injury to or offensive touching of 
another person, however slight. The touching of the live electrical wires to the detainee 
produced such an injury. I know this because saw the detainee react as indicated in 
paragraph 3 and common sense dictates that 110V will cause some injury. The touching of 
the wires to the detainee was an intentional act in that we planned to cause the detainee 
harm. 

CHARGE II: 

SPECIFICATION:  

On 16 April 2004, I received an order from Maj (b)(6) 	 as detailed in 
paragraph 3. I clearly heard Maj(b)(6) give me the order not to discuss any information 
about the investigation with anyone. I understood what I was not supposed to do. I 
believe Maj (b)(6) 	command was lawful because it related to a military investigation. 
His order was reasonably necessary to safeguard and protect the morale, discipline, and 
usefulness of the command and was directly connected with the maintenance of good order 
and discipline in that Maj (b)(6) was conducting an investigation involving members of his 
unit that implicated the discipline and good order of one of the unit's missions. 

Maj (b)(6) was and is the executive officer of 2nd Battalion, 2nd Marines. I am a Marine 
in 2nd Battalion, 2nd Marines. I knew that Maj (b)(6) was the executive officer of 2nd 
Battalion, 2nd Marines at the time he gave the order. Maj (b)(6) was in uniform at the 
time he gave me the order and he was wearing the appropriate imignia of a Major in the 
United States Marine Corps. I am a Private First Class in the United States Marine Corps. 

I willfully disobeyed Maj (b)(6) 	command as detailed in paragraph 3. I believe that I 
had a duty to obey the command. I disobeyed the command because I wanted to talk to 
PFC Sting about the incident and the investigation. My talking to PFC Sting was an 
intentional act. I do not have any legal justification or excuse. I could have avoided 
disobeying the command if I had N,vanted to. No person or thing forced me to disobey the 
command. I disobeyed the command because of a freely made decision on my part. 

CHARGE III:  
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SPECIFICATION: 

On 13 April 2004 I had a duty to treat the victim-detainee with dignity and respect and to 
protect the victim-detainee from physical harm. 1 knew I had these duties because I had 
been trained on the proper treatment of detainees. The training occurred in March 2004 
and lasted approximately three to four days. The training included treating detainees with 
dignity and respect and to protect detainees from harm. 

I was assigned my ditties by the commanding officer of 2nd Battalion, 2nd Marines. I 
understood my duties. I was instructed to treat detainees with dignity and respect and to 
protect detainees from physical harm. I failed to perfonn my duties as described in 
paragraph 3. The dereliction was willful in that Sgt Matthew Travis, PFC Andrew Sting, 
PFC Joshua Gabbey, and myself intentionally planned to electrically shock the victim-
detainee. 

I could have performed my duties properly if I had wanted to. I did not have permission or 
authority to willfully derelict my duties. In order to not derelict my duties, I should have 
told Sgt Matthew Travis, PFC Andrew Sting, and PFC Joshua Gabbey that it was wrong to 
electrically shock the victim-detainee and I should have informed my chain of command 
before the incident occurred. 

CHARGE IV: 

SPECIFICATION:  

On 13 April 2004, the victim-detainee was subject to my orders in that he had to do what I, 
or a member of my team told him to do. He was subject to mine, and our orders because 
he was held has a detainee who was possibly suspected of crimes against Arnericans. I did 
not know who the victim was except that I knew he was a detainee held under my charge. 
I was cruel and maltreated the victim-detainee as described in paragraph 3. 

I agree that my behavior constituted unwarranted, harmful, abusive, rough, or other 
unjustifiable treatment which, under all the circumstances resulted in physical or mental 
pain or suffering, and was unwarranted, unjustified and unnecessary for any lawful 
purpose. I believe this because electrically shocking the victim-detainee with 110V caused 
the victim -detainee harm as described in paragraph 3. 

No person or thing forced me to conspire and electrically shock the victim-detainee. I 
could have avoided conspiring and electrically shocking the victim-detainee. Conspiring 
and electrically shocking the victim-detainee was a freely made decision on my part. 

CHARGE V:  

SPECIFICATION: 

On 16 April 2004, I made an official statement as described in paragraph 3. When I made 
the false statement I do so in my official capacity as a Private First Class in the United 
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States Marine Corps. I had a duty to make the statement because Maj (b)(6) ordered me to 
make a statement. The statement was made to Majom who was discharging his 
official duties as the investigating officer of detainee abuse. 

The statement concerning Sgt Travis was false as described in paragraph 3. I made the 
statement in an effort to make Maj (b)(6) Delieve as true that which was false. I intended 
to deceive Maj (b)(6) I lied to Ma_ 0)(6) because I did not want him to know that Sgt 
Travis was in the detention facility during the incident. 

I lied voluntarily. I did not have any legal justification or excuse for making the false 
statement. No person or thing forced or coerced me into making the statement. I made the 
statement because of a freely made decision on my part. I could have told the truth if I had 
wanted to. 

sc. 
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114A,(  
JEREMIAH J. TREFNY 	 Date 
Private First Class, United States Marine Corps 
Accused 

(b)(6) 

(\f\ . OL‘ 

Captain, U.S. Marine Corps 
Defense Counsel 

(t9(6) 

  

  

Y(dC-1 3 
Date TrialCounsel 
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UNITED STATES MARINE CORPS 

IN THE SIERRA JUDICIAL CIRCUIT 

) 

UNITED STATES 	 ) 
) 

) 

) 

JEREIVIIAH J. TREFNY 	 ) 

fb)(6) 	 ) 
PRIVATE FIRST CLASS 	 ) 
U.S. MARINE CORPS 	 ) 

) 

SPECIAL COURT-MART1AL 

PRETRIAL AGREEMENT 

I, PRIVATE FIRST CLASS JEREMIAH J. TREFNY, U.S. Marine Corps, the accused in 
a special court-martial, freely and voluntarily certify that: 

1. For good consideration and after consultation with my defense counsel, I agree to 
enter a plea of GUILTY  to the charges and specification listed below, provided that the sentence 
approved by the convening authority will not exceed the sentence agreed upon in the Sentence 
Limitation to this Agreement. 

In return for my pleas of guilty, and following the military judge's acceptance of my 
pleas as set forth in paragraph 10, the convening authority agrees to withdraw the charge and 
specification to which I have plead Not Guilty. Upon announcement of the sentence by the 
military judge, the withdrawn charge and specification will be dismissed with prejudice by the 
convening authority. 

2. I am satisfied with my defense counsel, Captain (b)(6) 	 , in all respects 
and believe his advice to be in my best interest. 

3. I have been advised that this offer and Agreement cannot be used against me in 
the determination of my guilt on any matters arising from the charges and specification against 
me in this court-martial. 

4. I understand that for thc purpose of this Agreement, the sentence is considered to 
be in these five parts: (1) punitive discharge; (2) period of confinement; (3) amount of forfeiture 
of pay and/or allowances; (4) reduction in rate or grade; and, (5) any other lawful punishment 
(such as hard labor without confinement, restriction, reprimand, or fine). 

5. Should the court-martial adjudge a sentence which is less, or a part thereof which 
is less, than that set forth and approved in the Maximum Sentence Limitation to this Agreement, 
then the convening authority may only approve the lesser sentence. 
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6. My defense counsel has fully advised me of the meaning and effect of the 
following UCMJ provisions: Article 57, Effective dates of sentences; Article 58b, Automatic 
forfeitures; Article 58a, Automatic reduction; and, JAGMAN section 0152c, Automatic 
reduction of enlisted accused. I also understand that if the adjudged sentence is subject to any of 
these provisions, this Agreement will have no effect on the application of those provisions on the 
adjudged sentence, unless the effect is specifically indicated in the Sentence Limitation to this 
Agreement. 

7. My defense counsel has fully advised me of the meaning and effect of my guilty 
plea, and its attendant effects and consequences, including the possibility that I may be processed 
for an administrative discharge even if part or all of the sentence, including a punitive discharge, 
is suspended or disapproved pursuant to this Agreement, and that, depending on the 
circumstances, such discharge may be characterized as other than honorable. 

8. I understand that if my guilty plea does not remain in effect for any reason 
through the announcement of the sentence, then the convening authority may withdraw from this 
Agreement. 

9. I understand that I may ask permission to withdraw my guilty plea at any time 
before sentence is announced, and that the military judge may perrnit me to do so. 

10. I will plead as follows: 

CHARGE 	 PLEA 

Charge I: 	Violation of Article 81, UCMJ 	 GUILTY 

Spec: 	 Violation of Article 81, UCMJ 	 GUILTY 

Charge II: 	Violation of Article 90, UCMJ 	 GUILTY -ro LEssotz 
NcLvt)51) DFFF/use) Alla" 91 

Spec: 	 Violation of Article 90, UCMJ 	 GUILTY 1-10 L. .T. 0 ii-rrr cQ.- 
J 

Charge III: 	Violation of Article 92, UCMJ 	 GUILTY 	J c-v4 0'1 octy 
SA, 	• 

Spec: 	 Violation of Article 92, UCMJ 	 GUILTY 	"Yr: 

Charge IV: 	Violation of Article 93, UCMJ 	 GUILTY 

Spec: 	 Violation of Article 93, UCMJ 	 GUILTY 

Charge V: 	Violation of Article 107, UCMJ 	 GUILTY 

Spec: 	 Violation of Article 107, UCMJ 	 GUILTY 
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Charge VI: 
	Violation of Article 128, UCIVIJ 	 NOT GUILTY 

Spec: 
	

Violation of Article 128, UCMJ 	 NOT GUILTY 

	

11. 	If provided a grant of testimonial immunity, I agree to testify truthfully if called 
as a witness in both the Article 32 Pretrial Investigations and the cases of United States v.  
Sergeant Matthew K. Travis, United States v. Private First Class Andrew J. Sting,  and United  
States v. Private First Class Joshua R. Gabbey.  further agree to fully and truthfully cooperate in 
both the Article 32 Pretrial Investigations and the court-martial process, to include interviews 
with appropriate law enforcement authorities and counsel involved in the case, as well as any 
other reasonable request made of me. 

	

12. 	For the purpose of this Agreement, misconduct is defined as any act or omission I 
commit in violation of the UCMJ. 

	

13. 	All the provisions of this Agreement are material. 

a. If I violate any provision of the Agreement or commit any misconduct 
before trial, the convening authority may withdraw from this Agreement; or 

b. If I violate any provision of the Agreement or commit any misconduct 
between the date of trial and completion of my sentence, including suspension periods, the 
convening authority may order executed the full sentence, and I may lose the benefit of any 
disapproval or suspension provision contained in the Maximum Sentence Limitation portion, 
following a vacation hearing pursuant to Rule of Courts-Martial 1109, Manual for Courts-
Martial (2002 edition). - 

	

14. 	The maximum sentence to be approved by the convening authority is contained in 
the Maximum Sentence Limitation to this Agreement. 

	

15. 	1 agree to request trial by military judge alone, and waive my right to a trial by 
members 

	

16. 	I agree to waive the presence of any non-local witnesses at government expense. 
I offer this as an inducement to the Convening Authority for acceptance of this agreement. This 
provision does not interfere with my ability to effectively present a sentencing case. 

	

17. 	There are no other agreements, oral or written, express or implied, between 
myself and the convening authority, or any other representative of the government, except those 
written and contained in this agreement. 
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Accused: 	'Itk4. 	 Date: 	1,1k/  

JEREMIAH J. TREFNY 
Private First Class 
U.S. Marine Corps 

(b)(6) 

Defense Counsel: 

Captain 
U. S. Marine Corps 

The foregoing pretrial aarPement ic annrnved 

(b)(6) 

CONVENING AUTHORITY 

Date: \\ No.1  

DY S"," Date: 
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UNITED STATES MARINE CORPS 

IN THE SIERRA JUDICIAL CIRCUIT 

) 

UNITED STATES 	 ) 
) 

v. 	 ) 	SPECIAL COURT-MARTIAL 

) 

J EREMIAH TREFNY 	 ) 	SENTENCE LIMITATION 

(b)(6) 	 ) 

PRIVATE FIRST CLASS 	 ) 
U.S. MARINE CORPS 	 ) 

)  

I . Punitive Discharg.,e: As adjudged; however, should a punitive discharge not be 
adjudged I agree to waive any administrative discharge board, which includes any 
charge(s) and specification(s) which is/are the subject of this Agreement and understand 
any administrative discharge will be characterized in accordance with service 
regulations. This provision originated with me and my defense counsel and is offered as 
an inducement to obtain this Agreement I fully understand that my command may 
recommend to the separation authority that I receive an other than honorable discharge. 
My waiver is voluntary and nobody has pressured or forced me to give up this right. I do 
not waive my right to submit statements, documents or other evidence to the separation 
authority in rebuttal' to any proposed separation. 

2. Confinement: As adjudged; however, should a punitive discharge be adjudged the 
accused agrees to submit an appellate leave request within ten (10) days of trial, then all 
confinement in excess of one hundred and eighty (180) days will be suspended for a 
period of twelve (12) months from the date of the convening authority's action, at which 
time, unless sooner vacated, the suspended portion will be remitted without further 
action. 

3. Forfeitures: As adjudged. 

4. Reduction:  As adjudged. 

5. Other lawful punishments: As adjudged. 

In return for my pleas of guilty, the convening authority agrees to refer the 
charges and specifications to a special court-martial. Should I fail to plead providently, 
the special court-martial convening authority may withdraw the charges and 
specifications from a special court-martial, and forward them to the °Meer exercising 
General Court-Martial Convening Authority for disposition. 

I understand that an Article 32, UCMJ, Pretrial Investigation has been scheduled 
hy the special court-martial convening authority to determine whether probable cause 
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exists to believe that I committed any of theseoffenses, and to make a recommendation 
to the special court-martial convening authority as to the proper forum for the disposition 
of this case. As an inducement for acceptance of this Agreement, to have the offenses 
adjudicated at a special court-martial, I agree to unconditionally waive this Pretrial 
Investigation. Should I fail to plead providently at a special court-martial, the special 
court-martial convening authority may withdraw my case form a special court-martial, 
and use this waiver to forward the offenses to the Officer Exercising General Court-
Martial Convening Authority for disposition. 

This agreement constitues my request for, and the convening authority's approval 
of, deferment of all confinement suspended pursuant to the terms of this agreement. The 
period of deferment will run from the date of trial until the date the convening authority 
acts on the sentence. 
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Accused: 	 *-\• Date: 	Oil  
JEREMIAH J. TREFNY 
Private First Clas 
U.S. Marine Corps 

(b)96) 

Defense Counsel: 	 Date: 1\ 	CY" \ 

Captain 
U. S. Marine Corps 

The foregoing pretrial agreement is approved. 

(b)96) 

Date:  631Y 	7) 
CONVENING AUTHORITY 
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• You are advised that your counsel is req,...,•ed by law to fully explain to you the following post-tnal and appellate nghts. and. that 
you have the.righl to request the military judge explain all or any ponion of your appellate rights in open court prior to adjournment 
of your court-martial. 

Record of Trial 

A copy of the record of trial will be prepared and given to you. You may. request that your copy of the. record of trial be delivered to 
your defense counsel. 

StafTJudge Advocate or Legal Officer's Recommendation: 

If you received a punitive discharge or were sentenced by general court-martial. the convening authonty's staff judge advocate or 
legal advisor will submit a recommendation to the convening authority. Before forwarding the recotnmendation and the record of 
trial to the convening authonty. this legal advisor will serve a copy of the written review and recommendation upon your defense 
counsel. A separate copy will be served on you. If it is impracticable to serve the recorrunendation on you for reasons including, but 
not limited to. your transfer to a distant place, your unauthorized absence, or military exigency. your copy will be fonvarded.to your 
defense counsel. You may also request on the record at this court-martial or in writing that your copy be sent to your defense 
counsel instead of yourself. 

Subtnission of Matters to the Convening Authonn:  

You have a right to submit matters to the convening authority before that officer takes action on your case. In this regard. you have 
the right to request deferment of any sentence to confinement, These matters must be submitted within 10 days after a copy of the 
authenticated record of trial or. if applicable, the recommendation of the staff judge advocate or legal officer is served on you or your 
defense counsel. which ever is later. The convening authority may extend these penods. for good cause. for not more than an 
additional 20 days. Failure to submit matters within the time prescribed waives the right to submit matters later. 

Action by the Convening Authontv: 

The convening authority. will take action on the sentence adjudged and may. in his discretion. take action on findings of guilty-. The 
action to be taken on the findings anti sentence is within the sole discretion of the convening authority. and is matter of command 
prerogative. The convening authority is not required to review the case for legal errors or factual sufficiency. In taking action on the 
sentence. the convening authority may. approve. disapprove. commute. or suspend the sentence in whole or in part. Under no 
circumstance may. the conyening authority increase the severity of the sentence. The convening authority is not empowered to 
reverse a finding of not guilty. however. the convening authority may change a finding of guilty to a charge or specification to a 
finding of guilty to a lesser offense included within that charge or specification. may disapprove a finding of guilty. and order a 
rehearing. or may. set aside and dismiss anv charge or specification. 

Review 

If you were tried by a special coun-martial and your sentence. as finally. approved by thc convening authority. does not include a 
punitive discharge. your case will be reviewed under the direction of the staff judge advocate for the convening authority's superior 
general court-mania! convening authonty. You may suggest, in writing. possible legal errors for the judge advocate to consider and 
that judge advocate must file a written response to legal errors noted by. you. 

After such review. and completion of any required action by the geneml coun-martial convening authority.. you may request the 
Judge Advocate General of the Navy to take corrective action. Such a request must be filed within two years of thc convening 
authonty's action. unless the time is cxtcnded for good cause. 

If you were tried by. a general court-martial and your sentence. as finally approved by the convening authority. does not include a 
punitive discharge or at least one year's confinement. your casc will be forwarded to the Office of the Judge Advocate General. You 
may suggest. In writing. possible legal errors or other matters for consideration by thc Judge Advocate-General. The record may be 
examined for any legal errors and for appropriateness of the sentence and the Judge Advocate General may take corrective action. if 
appropriate. 
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If your sentence. as finally approved by 	:on-veiling authority. includes a punitive disc: 	e (regardless of the type of coun- 
martial). dismissal. a year's Confinement or more. or death your case will be reviewed by the Navy -Marine Corps Court of Crirninal 
Appeals for legal errors. factual sufficiency, and appropnatenes§ of sentence. This review is automatic. Following this. your case 
could be reviewed by the United States Court of Appeals for the Armed Forces, and finally it might be reviewed by the United States 
Supreme Court. 

War\ er of Review: 

You may waive appellate review. giving up the foregoing rights. or you may withdraw your case from appellate review at a later 
time Once you file a waiver or withdrawal. your decision is final and appellate review is barred. If you waive or withdraw appellate 
review. your case will be revietved by a judge advocate for certain legal errors. You may submit. in writing, suggestions of legal 
errors for consideration by the judge advocate. who must file a written response to each. The judge advocate's review will be sent to 
the general court-martial convening authority for final action. Within two years after suclt final action. you may request the Judge 
Advocate General to take corrective action in your case. Two years period may be extended for good cause. 

You have the right to the advice and assistance of counsel in exercising or deciding to waive your post-trial and appellate nghts. 

Ftn.tht  to Counsel: 

It is your defense counsel's responsibility to represent you during the convening authority's action stage of your court-martial 
com iction. Your defense counsel is responsible for examining the record of trial for errors and. where applicable. the post-trial 
reconunendation of the staff judge advocate or legal officer for errors or omissions. It is your defense counsel's obligation to advise 
and assist you in preparing matters for submission to the convening authority for consideration prior to action being taken on the 
record of trial. 

If your case is reviewed by the Navy-tvlarine Corps Court of Criminal Appeals. military counsel will be appointed to represent you at 
no cost to you and. if you choose. you may engage a civilian counsel at no expense to the Unitcd States. If your case should be 
reviewed by the United States Court of Appeals for the .krrned Forces or by the United States Supreme court. you would continue to 
have the same appellate counsel nghts before these courts. 

Acknowledgment: 

I acknowledge: ( I) that. prior to adjourrunent of my court-martial. I was provided with the above written advice; (2) that I have read 
and understand my post-trial and appellate rights: (3) that I discussed them with my lawyers prior to signing this form: and (4) that 
the n-nlitary judge will discuss my appellate rights with me on the record prior to adjournment of the court, if I so desire. 

I specifically request that my. written copy of the record of trial be delivered to (me) ( v counstain (b)(6) 	USMC.  

I specifically rawest that my written copy of the staff judge advocate/legal officer review be delivered to (me) 
itain (b)(6) 	USMC.  

y counsel) 

L \ 	
(date)   (Signature of Accused) 

(b)(6) 

	

(SA 	(date) 	 (Signature of DC) 
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13. .ReqUests bY. counsel- and action of the 
conveningreuthority taken thereon (e:g., reoueits 
concerning delay, witnesses and depositions). 

- 14., RPgqrds • 9f: former trials-

15. Record-of trial in the following 

a:terat6Sheet, if any. 

-- '1D:71ndexisheet With: reverse' tide containing-;.-i, 
receipt-of -acCused -Or defense;cburiserfor 
record or:certificate in lieu of receipt 	- 

":".7 

INSTRUCTIONS FOR PREPARING AND ARRAN6ING RECORD OF TRIAL 

USE OF FORM - This form and MCM, 1984, 
Appendix 14, will be used by the trial counsel and 
the reporter as a guide to the preparation of the 
record of trial in general and special court-martial 
cases in which a verbatim record is prepared. Air 
Force uses this form and .departmental mstructions 
as a guide to the preparation of the record of trial 
in general and special court-martial cases in which 
a summarized record is authorized. Army and Navy 
use DO Form 491 for records of trial in general and 

-special- court-martial cases in which a summarized 
record is authorized. Inapplicable words of the 
printed text will be deleted. 

COPIES -,. See MCfv1,•, 1984, RCN1 1103(g). The con-
vening authority may direct the preparation of ' 
additional coi.sies. 

ARRANGEMENT - VVhen forward ed to the 
appropriate Judge Advocate General or for judge • - 
advocate review pursuant toArticle 64(a), the record 
will be arranged and bound with. allied papers in 
the sequence ' indicated* below. Trial counsel SS 
responsible for arranging the' record as indicated; 
except that items 6, 7-, and 15e will be inserted by 
the convening or 'reviewing etithority, 
appropriate, and items 10 agd 14 will be inserted by 
either trial counsel or the convening or reviewing 

—authbrity,-vvhichekier has: CuStodY-- of them:— - 

1. Front cover *and inside front cover _ 
(chronOlogy sheet) cif OD Form 490. 

64(a),-if ani.- 

3. Request of accused for appellate defense 
counsel, or waiverivvithdrawal of appellate rights, if 
applicable. 	 ; 

4. Briefs of counsel submitted after trial, if' any 
(Article 38(c)). 

5. DO Form 494, "Court-Martial Data Sheet.' 

6. Court- martial orders promulgating the result 
of trial as to each accused, in i0 copies when the 
record is verbatim and in 4 cOpies when it is 
summarized. 

7. When required, signed recommendation of 
staff judge advocate or legal officer, in duplicate, 
together with all clemency papers, including 
clemency xecommendations by court members. 
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8. Matters submitted by the accused pursuant to 
Article 60 (MCM, 1984, RCIV1 1105). 

9. DD Form 458, 'Charge Sheet' (unless 
included at the point of arraignment in the 
record). 

10. Congressional inquiries and replies, if any. 

. 11. DD Form 4-57, "Investigating Officer's 	. 
Report," pursuant to Article 32, if such 
investigation waS conducted, followed by any , 
other--papers which accompanied the -charges--"= 
when referred for trial, unless included in the 
record of trial proper. 

12. Advice of staff judge advocate or legal., 
officer; when prepared pursuant to Article 34 or. . 
otherwise.. 

c. Record of proceedings in court, Including 
Article 39(a) sessions, if any. 

d. Authentication sheet. followed by 
certificate of correction, if any. 

e. Action of convening authority and, if. 
appropriate, action of officer exercising general-
court-martial jursidiction. 

f. Exhibits admitted in evidence. 

g. Exhibits not received* in evidence. The 
page of the record Of 	•vvhere each exhibit,' 
vvas offered and rejected will be noted .on the ; 
front of each exhibit 

h. Appellate exhibits, such as proposed 
instructions, written offers of proof or 
preliminary evidence (real or documentary), and 
briefs of counsel submitted at,trial. 
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2. Judge advocate's review pursuant to Article . 
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